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Highlights of our year

£124m
turnover

Finance

£64.5m
surplus

44%
operating margin

£1.3bn
housing properties cost

£458m
borrowings

758
new home starts

Development

457
new home handovers

1,200
homes in pipeline

£132m
spend on new builds 

14 days
void turnaround

Property management

98.74%
repairs satisfaction

3.71%
rent arrears

Housing management

81%
Overall satisfaction

Highlights of our year
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We had a rebrand
As we keep moving forward it is 
important that our brand moves 
with us. The recent refresh of our 
brand was designed to coincide 
with our new website and 
customer portal. Our  
in-house design team worked 
hard to ensure that our brand is 
future proof and adaptable for 
various online platforms. Our 
shared ownership and charitable 
arm have been brought together 
to so that we are consistent, 
professional and easily identified 
across the sector. 

Our corporate website had 
a refresh
The adoption of a digital first 
approach is evolving the way  
we work to deliver a better  
more positive customer journey 
as well as streamlining processes 
for our staff. The launch of our 
new corporate website,  
moat.co.uk, helps to facilitate 
self-service for our customers 
and provides more choice, 
making their interactions with 
us convenient, quicker and  
more informative.

We improved our customer 
portal, MyMoat
Our new and improved 
customer portal, developed 
by our in-house IT Team, lets 
customers access a greater 
range of services to help 
manage their accounts in 
the easiest and quickest way, 
whenever it is convenient for 
them. Improved functionality 
includes the ability to set 
up Direct Debits, download 
rent statements, manage 
appointments and much more.
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Grenfell shines a spotlight on older stock 
and the challenges of refurbishing or 
replacing these homes  – not to tackle 
this issue would simply add to the 
housing shortage of the future.

Housing is an essential part of our social 
infrastructure and we welcome the 
increased focus by the public and the 
media on the challenges of ensuring we 
have enough good quality affordable 
homes. The announcement of the Green 
Paper was a welcome opportunity to 
revisit social housing provision and the 
rent settlement from 2020-2025 gave 
a degree of certainty, enabling us to 
invest more in new homes. However, 
to make the necessary step change in 
housing provision will require a long term 
vision for housing rather than short term 
interventions. Housing associations, 

local authorities, major housebuilders and 
SME builders will need to work tirelessly 
and collaboratively to provide the homes 
that are needed.

One of our key priorities for 2017/2018 
was to build a pipeline of affordable 
homes, ensuring our ability to make a 
real difference in the communities in 
which we work. We now have over 1,200 
affordable homes in our contractual 
pipeline across Kent, Essex, Sussex and 
south London. We continue to develop 
a range of units, including family homes, 
for both affordable rent and shared 
ownership. 

In terms of partners, we are proud 
to work not just with the major 
housebuilders but with local developers 
and partnership remains at the heart of 
Moat’s delivery model.

Part of our strategy has been to 
dispose of stock in our non-core areas, 
selling these homes to other housing 
associations which are in a better 
position to provide services to these 
residents. Our disposal of 300 homes in 
Hertfordshire marks the end of our major 
planned disposal programme and the 
capital receipts are being invested in the 
provision of more affordable homes.

We have continued to work closely with 
the community on the regeneration in 
Pollards Hill in London. Our aims have 
been to improve the energy efficiency 
of the homes, the look and feel of the 
estate and to work with the residents to 
ensure that social regeneration underpins 
the physical regeneration. To this end, 
we have worked with our partners on 
a variety of social initiatives including 
the creation of an enterprise hub for 

Introduction
Chair’s statement

Chair’s statement

It has been a year of both action and 
reflection for housing associations – 
whilst the government focus remains 
on increasing the supply of new 
homes, Grenfell continues to remind 
us of our landlord responsibilities for 
our residents and the importance of 
investing in all our homes, making 
sure that they are safe and secure.
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18-30 year olds to start up businesses, 
education and behavioural programmes 
with the local schools and supporting 
over 50 people back into work.

We continue to refine our customer 
offer, making our respective roles 
and responsibilities clear so that our 
residents can hold us to account. 
Our neighbourhoods team has been 
restructured to ensure we have the right 
people in the right places and that the 
heads of our three regions have clear 
lines of responsibility for their areas.

Arrears had been identified as an area for 
improvement and we have changed our 
ways of working. As a result, we have 
been able to reduce our arrears from 
5.06% to 3.71%, whilst still helping our 
customers to stay in their homes. The 
challenges of the transition to Universal 
Credit remain but we are now in a better 
position to support our customers 
through these changes.

Above all, we remain focused on our 
social mission, balancing our ambition 
to deliver the maximum number of new 
homes whilst ensuring organisational 
resilience and the provision of high quality 
services to existing residents.  Our strong 
financial performance and record surplus 
of £64.5m this year means that we can 
continue to deliver on our ambition to 
end housing need. We remain committed 
to providing as many people as possible 
with a safe, secure and affordable home 
so they can build their lives.

In January of this year, Liz McMeikan 
stepped down from her role as Chair 
of Moat for family reasons. Liz led the 
organisation through a challenging 
period for the sector with passion and 
commitment, giving a clear focus to our 
strategic journey. The Board would like to 
record their thanks and appreciation for 
her contribution.

I would also like to express our thanks  
to all our partners and stakeholders  
who have worked with us over the  
past year, to those residents who have  
helped us shape our services and to  
all the employees at Moat who have 
worked tirelessly to deliver such a  
strong performance.

“ “
We have continued to work closely with the community 
on the regeneration in Pollards Hill in London.

“ “...we have worked with our partners on a variety of 
social initiatives including the creation of an enterprise 
hub for 18-30 year olds to start up businesses, education 
and behavioural programmes with the local schools and 
supporting over 50 people back into work.

Steve White
Chair

26 July 2018

Introduction
Chair’s statement
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Strategic report
What we do

What we do

We are a leading housing association in 
the South East, owning and managing 
over 20,000 homes, and with a 
development programme planned at 650 
new homes every year. Moat is a not-for-
profit organisation funded by a mixture 
of private finance and government grant, 
developing, owning and managing social 
housing. Any surplus made is reinvested 
to maintain existing homes and build new 
ones.

For over fifty years we have sought to 
help people in housing need to have 
somewhere they can call home by 
providing a range of different housing 
options to suit the diverse needs of  
our customers. 

We are dedicated to being a supportive 
and reliable landlord, providing fantastic 
services to our customers, investing in the 
communities we work in and continuing 
to build new homes to help combat the 
housing crisis.

Moat Homes Limited (MHL) 
is the parent company of 
the group which is branded 
as ‘Moat’.

We are proud to be:

• An experienced and compassionate 
landlord in our communities

• Dedicated to building strong 
relationships with the local authorities  
in the areas we work

• One of the Homes England delivery 
partners

• Financially strong, allowing us to 
deliver excellent services to our 
customers and build new homes

• An expert in providing shared 
ownership

• An employer of 350+ members of 
expert and passionate staff.

Moat’s Company Structure

Moat Homes Limited
Registered under Cooperative  

Communities Societies Act 2014 No.17434R
Registered Provider L0386

Charitable status

Moat Housing Group Limited
Registered under Cooperative 

Communities Societies Act 2014 
No.27943R

Registered Provider L4047
Non-charitable status

Moat Foundation
Registered under Companies 

Act 2006. Limited by  
Guarantee No.07293421

Registered with the Charities 
Commission No. 1136995

Moat Homes Finance plc
Registered under Companies  

Act 2006 No 07743490
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MHL is the parent and is a charitable 
registered provider of social housing 
regulated by the Regulator of Social 
Housing (RSH). 

Its active subsidiaries are Moat Housing 
Group Limited (MHG), which focuses  
on developing homes for market sale; 
Moat Foundation (MF), our charitable  
arm focusing on communities; and  
Moat Housing Finance Plc, our group 
treasury vehicle which has issued a 
£150m public bond. There are also 
three dormant group companies, Mariner 
Facilities Management Limited, Moat 
Construction Services Limited and Moat 
Development Limited.

Our homes New homes in 
2017/2018

Homes managed

General needs rented 18 8,519

Affordable rent 129 1,591

Housing for older people/supported - 1,764

Low cost home ownership 310 4,989

Social leasehold - 1,062

Other social - 1,482

Non social housing - 1,633

Total homes 457 21,040

Location of our current homes
NB only local authorities 
with 50+ homes shown

Uttlesford

Chelmsford

Harlow

Epping Forest

Southend-on-Sea

Thurrock

Dover

Canterbury

ShepwayAshford

Swale

Maidstone

Tonbridge 
and Malling

Tunbridge Wells

Sevenoaks

Dartford
Gravesham

Medway

Wealden

Brighton and Hove

Mid Sussex

Horsham

Bromley
CroydonSutton

Lewisham
Castle 
Point

Greenwich

Basildon

Bexley

Crawley

Merton

Maldon

Rochford

Thanet

Strategic report
What we do
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Our strategic journey
2016/2020

The approach is aimed at transformational 
changes that will unlock the capacity of the 
business and underpin its growth ambition.  
It is focused on the following four areas:

• Focused on growth – ensuring the 
continuation of a strong development 
programme,

• An innovative, commercial business 
– looking at the development of new 
products and tenures as a means to  
further growth, 

• Easy to do business with – focusing on 
simplifying our offer and maximising the use 
of digital technology service delivery, and

• A consistent customer experience – 
focusing on setting out a clear and 
consistent customer offer to deliver  
the right outcomes and greater efficiency.

Our strategic roadmap below is designed 
to ensure that Moat continues to be a 
more efficient and effective business, able 
to respond to future challenges. Progress 
towards our objectives is regularly monitored.

We continue with our 
strategic journey to take  
the organisation forward. 

Strategic report
Our strategic journey 2016/2020

E L I M I N AT E  H O U S I N G  N E E D

Easy to do
business with

Simple effectiveness will underpin
how we manage the business 
and provide services• By 2020 we will be focused on 30 local 

authority areas

• We will develop around 3,000 properties  
over the next five years aiming for an  
annual pipeline of 750 properties  
by 2020

• We will increase our appetite  
for commercial risk to  
make the best use of the  
opportunities that we have  
to meet our growth target.

Focused on 
growth

Continuing to build new homes is 
the focus of everything we do

• Increasing product choice through developing  
a new, sustainable rented product

• Considering how partner investment can support  
our growth ambition through new financing  
options for products and growth

• Investing in technology to underpin an effective  
and modern business supporting our outcomes. 

An innovative, 
commercial

business

Focused innovation 
will be a part of 
everything we 
do embedded 
within the business • The offer to our customers will 

be consistent and clear and 
we will deliver it without failure

A consistent 
customer

experience

We will be brilliant 
at doing the 
basics

• We will focus on the outcomes that our 
customers need through good data and good 
technology to support great communication

• We will be a learning organisation focused on 
getting things through insight, innovation and 
improvement.

• Digital technology will increasingly become our 
chosen way of working to support our drive 
towards greater efficiency

• Services will be delivered by   
  those best able to provide the   
    right services at the right price

• We will use partnerships 
and business relationships 
to maximise impact.
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The environment  
we work in

Strategic report
The environment we work in

Whilst it is recognised that a step-change 
needs to be made in housing provision, there  
is little consensus as to how this can best  
be addressed. 

The announcement by the government of the 
rent settlement for 2020/2025 at CPI plus 
1% per annum was welcome and has given a 
degree of much needed certainty which helps 
to underpin the development of affordable 
rented homes.

The tragic events of Grenfell brought into 
strong focus the quality and safety of existing 
homes and the way in which residents’ voices 
are heard and housing providers called to 
account. This is likely to have had a strong 
impact on the content of the Green Paper on 
housing which is due to be published shortly. 
Going forward, the emerging strong narrative 
about the rights of residents and issues of 
perceived negative attitudes towards those 
in social housing may lead to a re-balancing 
of resources between new supply and the 
support of existing residents and their homes.

The roll-out of Universal Credit has been further 
delayed and there have been a number of 
changes aimed at smoothing out the transition 
both for housing providers and for claimants: 

• The initial seven day (no pay) waiting period 
has been scrapped.

• Claimants can now ask for up to a month 
of Universal Credit to be paid in advance as 
an interest free loan to be paid back over 
twelve months.

• Those already receiving housing benefit can 
keep on doing so for two weeks after their 
Universal Credit claim, so making it easier 
to pay the rent over the transition period. 

Voluntary Right to Buy remains on the 
government agenda and in May 2018 guidance 
was issued to housing associations about the 
Midlands pilot scheme. The pilot will be used 
to inform the shape of the final scheme.

The operating environment 
for housing providers 
continues to be challenging, 
due in part to an increased 
interest in the shortage 
of affordable homes both 
amongst policy makers  
and the general public.

Development pressures
Housing associations have been actively 
building their development pipelines over the 
past year, with perhaps a greater emphasis 
on land-led deals and therefore more direct 
competition with private developers. This year 
has also seen new entrants into the Section 
106 market with for-profit Registered Providers 
announcing their intention to bid aggressively 
to build their own pipeline of schemes. 

Shared ownership still forms a large proportion 
of development programmes but this year  
has seen the increased availability of grant  
for rented housing (and even social rent).  

Market exposure, due largely to increasing 
shared ownership programmes, remains a 
clear area of risk but down-valuations still 
appear to be largely limited to high value 
urban markets, with most other locations 
still experiencing low single digit house price 
inflation. Demand for shared ownership 
remains high however across London and 
the South East as the relationship between 
average house prices and incomes means 
that outright home ownership remains 
unaffordable for many households. Shared 
ownership continues to provide an attractive 
and accessible route to home ownership for 
a substantial number of first time buyers. 
Increased shared ownership programmes have 
also encouraged new entrants into the shared 
ownership mortgage lending market. 

The impact of the Carillion collapse has 
unsettled the construction industry but in 
general terms the construction market appears 
to have stabilised in terms of build costs and 
availability of labour and materials. 

General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR)
The introduction of the GDPR on 25 May 2018 
has provided a challenge for all businesses 
in the UK and we have been preparing and 
planning for it throughout the year.
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Strategic report
The environment we work in

We have revised key documents (Privacy 
Statement; Data Protection Policy; Data 
Retention Schedule), updated data sharing 
agreements and are continuing to improve our 
processes working through action plans with 
each area of the business.

Regulation
Towards the end of the year, the HCA 
separated its functions into two different 
entities, the Social Housing Regulator and 
Homes England. This has no direct impact on 
regulation itself but allows Homes England to 
operate as a commercially focused land and 
investment agency focusing on the supply of 
new homes.

Broader sector
Several notable housing association mergers 
completed this financial year, with the stated 
aim of increasing efficiency and development 
capacity in the long term. Some high-profile 
mergers have been unsuccessful due to 
a variety of reasons, including strategic 
and cultural differences. There is however 
increasing evidence that larger does not 
necessarily mean more efficient and this has 
been borne out by the sector scorecard pilot  
in which we participated.

The rent cut has encouraged the shift towards 
market tenures such as shared ownership 
and outright sale, as a means to provide 
cross-subsidy for affordable rented housing. In 
certain parts of the country, the housing market 
is sluggish with prices rising more slowly and in 
certain cases falling. This underlines the need 
for providers to embed organisational resilience 
through appropriate risk management, financial 
strength and good governance.

Finance and Investment
During the year, the market remained strong 
for the funding of affordable housing by both 
banks and institutional investors. We have 
also seen the launch of some Real Estate 
Investment Trusts (REITS) aimed at affordable 
and supported housing.

The market seems uncertain as to whether we 
are at a turning point in the interest cycle with 
some expecting further gradual interest rate 
increases and others believing that the global 
economic recovery is fragile and still requires 
the support of low interest rates. Certainly, in 
recent months, spreads have been wider than 
expected on long dated bond issues which 
suggests a degree of caution on pricing on the 
part of investors or fatigue with very low rates, 
but investors’ perceptions of the sector’s credit 
standing appear still to be robust.

External pressures 
Whilst the UK remains on course to leave the 
European Union in March 2019, there is as yet 
little clarity on what this might mean for the 
future. Key concerns for the housing sector 
include house prices, the cost of labour and 
materials for construction, interest rates and 
economic stagnation. A further fall in the value 
of sterling could also lead to a further increase 
in costs. 
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Our performance

Actual  
2017/2018

Target
2017/2018

Actual  
2016/2017

New homes starts 758 600 515

New build handovers 457 436 406

Unreserved homes: more than six 
months old

4 - 1

Shared ownership sales profitability 20% 13.6% 31%

Our performance

We beat our targets for both new home starts 
and handovers. This has contributed to our 
pipeline of over 1,200 homes in contract, 
889 of which were in construction at the year 
end. Of the 1,200, over 98% are affordable 
homes either to rent or to buy through shared 
ownership, helping us really make a difference 
to those in housing need. 

For 2018/2019 we are targeting 600 new 
home starts and 525 handovers. This is 
principally through Homes England and GLA 
programmes and largely funded by Recycled 
Capital Grant Fund (RCGF) generated by our 
shared ownership portfolio.

Our outright sale programme continued 
through MHG. Three schemes are currently 
in construction building 37 homes for sale. 
The first sales for these are due in 2018/2019. 
In April 2018 Moat purchased land to build 
an additional 87 homes, of which 61 are for 
outright sale. Any surpluses from outright 
sales will be used to cross-subsidise building 
affordable homes.

The 457 handovers in 2017/2018 comprised 
of 18 for social rent, 129 for affordable rent 
and 310 for shared ownership.

Sales of new homes
The increased development programme for 
shared ownership meant that 310 shared 
properties became available for sale in the 
year, 70% more properties than in 2017.     

239 first tranche sales completed in the year 
(2017: 216) which was in line with our targeted 
sales given the profile of handover dates and 
size of schemes. At the 31 March only 
4 homes (2017: 1) remained unreserved after 
6 months from handover. Sales proceeds were 
£25.1m (2017: 23.2m), bringing a surplus of 
£5.1m (2017: £7.2m). The sales margin of 
20% remained significantly higher than our 
target although lower than the 31% achieved 
in the previous year. For 2018/2019 we are 
targeting selling 425 new shared ownership 
homes.

Increasing levels of shared ownership
During the year 165 (2017: 167) existing 
shared owners bought more equity in their 
homes (staircasing) and 146 (2017: 171) 
equity loan holders redeemed their loans. This 
generated income of £27.8m (2017: £27.1m), 
with a £12.5m (2017: £10.9m) surplus. There 
were also 209 resales, of which 92% were 
retained as shared ownership.

Stock rationalisation
In our asset management programme to 
dispose of stock outside of our key areas 
of operation, we disposed of 300 homes in 
Hertfordshire. This generated almost £32m in 
capital receipts. With the disposal of our only 
stock in Wandsworth completing in May 2018 
we have substantially completed our strategic 
disposal programme. 

Building new homes remains 
a major focus of what we do. Actual 

2017/2018
Target

2017/2018
Actual

2016/2017
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Kidbrooke Village, Greenwich
We have a total of 97 apartments at Kidbrooke Village, making it one of our 
biggest, most important projects to date. The regeneration will eventually deliver 
4,800 new homes as well as 35 hectares of parkland, a new train station, a school, 
shops, restaurants and community space.

Development highlights

St Clement’s Lakes, 
Greenhithe
The homes at St Clement’s Lakes have 
been built on land that stood empty 
for many years; our homes were 
handed over in 2017. We have a mix 
of 47 affordable rented and shared 
ownership houses and apartments at this 
conveniently located development, close 
to commuter links to London, Bluewater 
and the Kent countryside. 

Springhead Park, Ebbsfleet Garden City
This is our largest shared ownership development, being delivered in partnership 
with Countryside, comprising a total of 163 homes as part of Ebbsfleet Garden City. 
Once completed, Ebbsfleet will offer around 15,000 homes, plenty of community 
amenities and excellent transport links to London.

Nursery Fields, Worth
Nursery Fields is situated in the pretty 
semi-rural village of Worth, near Sandwich 
in Kent and comprises nine two and three 
bedroom homes for shared ownership, 
developed in partnership with Sunningdale 
Homes and Dover District Council.

Oyster Beach, Whitstable
With the beach only a short walk away 
these 13 shared ownership apartments 
and houses are in one of the most sought 
after locations in the south east, with high 
speed links to London close by.

Strategic report
Our performance
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Actual  
2017/2018

Target
2017/2018

Actual  
2016/2017

Routine repairs: right first time 96% 95% 95%

Resident satisfaction with routine repairs service 99% 90% 98%

Current landlords’ gas safety certificates 100% 100% 100%

Void turnaround time in days: general needs, 
housing for older people and supported

14 20 20

Our routine repairs service, in partnership with Mears, 
continued to deliver a great service as shown by our 
performance against our key targets.

Maintaining our homes
We continually invest in maintaining and 
upgrading our homes, spending £19.4m  
in the year (2017: £16m). 

We installed 273 new kitchens, 123 new 
bathrooms and 325 new boilers in our major 
works programme, again in partnership  
with Mears. 

Gas compliance, which is an incredibly 
important obligation, ended the year with  
the required 100% properties with up-to-date 
safety certificates.

Void turnaround
We embarked on a review of our void 
processes, introducing private letting  
agents and open day viewings for hard to  
let properties for up to ten applicants at a 
time, which reduces the number of viewings 
and saves time and resource. We also 
improved our monitoring both internally and 
with our contractors, re-structured the team 
and strengthened our relationships with our  
local authorities to make sure we match  
the right property to the right person. Our  
void turnaround time has been driven  
down from 20 to 14 days.

Fuel poverty
In recognition of our work to combat fuel 
poverty for our customers we achieved 
success at the Energy & Efficiency Regional 
Awards 2018. We won the Greater London 
Housing Association of the Year 2018 and the 
East of England Housing Association of the 
Year 2018 categories and were commended  
in the South East category. 

We are also pushing ahead with our 
‘Energiesprong’ pilot to improve the eco 
performance of up to eight homes in Maldon 
in the coming months.

Actual 
2017/2018

Target
2017/2018

Actual
2016/2017

Strategic report
Our performance 



Strategic report
Our performance

Our customer and digital offer
Our work on both our customer and digital 
offers has been focused though the lens of our 
customer journeys. Being clear and consistent 
with our offer to customers has been key to 
making sure they understand what is expected 
from them and what they can expect from us.

Reflecting on our customer interaction and 
making processes simpler, smarter and faster 
has allowed us to focus our efforts where they 
will have maximum impact. Our adoption of 
a digital first approach is evolving the way we 
work to deliver a better more positive customer 
journey as well as streamlining processes for 
staff. Our new corporate website and customer 
portal provides customers with a number of 
enabling services, helping facilitate self-service 
and providing choice; making their interactions 
with us convenient, quicker and more 
informative. Digital provides us with new ways 
of working for staff, allowing our teams on the 
ground to become a mobile and supported 
team able to deal with those customers that 
need our help the most, and streamlining 
processes for office based staff.

Telephony system and webchat
The installation of a new telephony system 
brought a number of changes to how our 
Customer Services teams work. Screen 
‘popping’ allows the new system to identify 
callers before we pick up the phone, saving up 
to a minute per call and bypassing repetitive 
identification processes and allowing the 
team to handle more calls and deal with 
more customer requests. In addition to the 
telephony system we have introduced a web-
chat function on our website, giving customers 
live, direct contact with our Customer Service 
advisors from their own devices. In 2017/2018, 
we answered 161,674 calls with an average 
call length of 8 minutes 52 seconds; dealt with 
19,831 emails; and handled 1,170 webchats.

Real time customer feedback
We launched our new real time customer 
feedback service in September 2017, a new 
system developed by our in-house IT team 
as part of our digital offer. The in-house 
system replaces an external system, saving 
us around £100,000 year on year. The greater 
flexibility it offers means we can customise our 
feedback service. So far, we have received real 
time customer feedback from almost 3,500 
customers about the service they received. By 
focusing on getting the right outcome for each 
customer we have averaged a satisfaction 
score of 4.2 out of 5, illustrating that we are 
doing a good job.

Arrears
Over the last 12 months we have applied a 
smarter and more consistent approach to 

Actual  
2017/2018

Target
2017/2018

Actual  
2016/2017

Overall satisfaction with services provided (rented) 81% 80% 82%

Current rent gross arrears - eight week rolling 
average: general needs, housing for  
older people and supported

3.71% 4.25% 5.06%

Current rent gross arrears: shared ownership 1.84% 1.75% 1.86%

arrears management by catching arrears early 
and helping people sustain their tenancies by 
providing a straightforward and supportive 
service. A new rent arrears system, RentSense, 
has helped refine our progression rules, 
providing a greater focus on those we need 
to engage with sooner. As a result of these 
changes we have seen increases in payments 
at sign ups, payments in advance and Direct 
Debits, and our arrears balance reduced whilst 
reducing the number of evictions.

With the delay in the rollout of Universal Credit 
(UC), we were aware of only 295 residents on UC 
at the 31 March. We anticipate that there may 
be in the order of a further 3,000 households to 
transition over the next 12 months. 

Neighbourhood restructure and 
new offices
Our Neighbourhood teams underwent a 
significant transformation this year. We redefined 
our areas of operation, as well as our services, 
restructured our teams, evaluated the way 
we work and our culture in order to offer a 
consistent level of service and delivering on 
what we say we will for all of our customers. 
The transformation has brought a renewed 
energy to our front-line staff, taking ownership 
and responsibility for the communities they work 
in. To support our service delivery, we have 
established a presence in Horsham and moved 
to a bigger office in Maldon that will provide 
extra space for the expanded neighbourhood 
team. 

We have redefined our approach to anti-
social behaviour (ASB) by focusing on our 
responsibilities as a landlord and managing 
ASB in accordance with our lease or tenancy 
agreements and signposting to appropriate 
partner agencies. One of the many positive 
effects has been a significant cost saving in our 
legal spend. We have saved in the region of 
£100,000 by equipping staff with the skills to 
self-represent in ASB Court cases. 

Following on from our Neighbourhood 
restructure, we were shortlisted for Frontline 
Team of the Year at the CIH Housing Heroes 
awards. Our submission focused on the 
changes implemented over the past year 
as a result of the overhaul of our structures, 

processes and culture. 

Our communities
Regeneration
We have continued to deliver on our promises at 
Pollards Hill, where the physical regeneration is 
on track. We have spent £8.5m (2017: £1.4m) 
on the regeneration during the year, of which 
£6.8m (2017: £0.5m) has been accounted 
for as additional housing properties costs. 
2018/2019 will be the pivotal year in completing 
the works with our aim to be off site by May 
2019. The bond between us and our residents 
at Pollards Hill continues to strengthen and the 
regeneration is underpinned by a wide range of 
social initiatives, such as Strengthening Minds 
involving local school children.

Moat Foundation
During 2018 our charitable arm, Moat Foundation, 
has supported 1,482 customers with:
• Educational and training bursaries
• Fuel poverty interventions and wider 

financial wellbeing advice and support
• Community volunteering and training 

opportunities
• Digital inclusion support and health and 

wellbeing opportunities for older customers 
including dementia awareness and falls 
prevention

• Access to structured activities for young 
people (under 25s), including employability 
training, work experience, health and  
wellbeing opportunities.

We deliver our various Foundation activities 
through our four Community Hubs in 
Gravesham, Gillingham, Sittingbourne and 
Stanhope. By working together with partners, 
such as West Kent Communities and Uprising 
Youth and Community, we deliver Hub based 
community activities ranging from; breakfast 
clubs, youth clubs, half terms and summer 
activities for young people and their families, 
pre-employment training, craft projects, health 
and wellbeing activities for older residents, 
financial wellbeing drop-ins and talking 
therapies sessions. We have also just set up 
a new Community Hub at our new office in 
Maldon, Essex. 

Actual 
2017/2018

Target
2017/2018

Actual
2016/2017
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Our Community Hubs
Working with a number of partners, we deliver activities through our Community Hubs 
in Gravesham, Gillingham, Sittingbourne and Stanhope, and a new Hub shortly to open 
in Maldon, Essex.  Activities provided include, breakfast and youth clubs, half term and 
summer activities for families, pre-employment training, health and wellbeing activities 
for older residents, financial wellbeing and IT drop-ins, and many more.

Our Neighbourhood Response Team
This team provides a presence in our communities to ensure that they are clean, clear 
and safe, providing the best quality of life for our customers. The team comes together 
every quarter to target specific issues such as jet washing footpaths, repainting fences 
or clearing gutters. Our NRT Hit Squad deliver value for money for our customers.   

Redefining our approach to 
Anti-Social Behaviour
We have redefined our approach to 
anti-social behaviour by focusing on our 
responsibilities as a landlord to manage 
ASB in accordance with lease and 
tenancy agreements, and signposting to 
appropriate partner agencies.

Webchat release
We introduced a web chat function giving 
customers live, direct contact from their 
own devices to the Customer Services 
team. Over the last financial year we 
handled 1,170 webchats.

Neighbourhoods highlights

Real Time Customer Feedback
Launched in September 2017 and developed by our IT team, this system replaces the 
previous external one, giving us significant savings and flexibility. We have received 
feedback from nearly 3,500 customers, with an average satisfaction score of 4.2 out of 5.

We’re Housing Heroes!
We were proud to have been shortlisted 
for Frontline Team of the Year at the 
CIH Housing Heroes awards 2018, with a 
submission that focussed on the changes 
implemented over the past year as a result 
of the review and refresh of our structures, 
processes and culture.

Strategic report
Our performance 
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VfM is a key strand across the full range of our 
business activities including:
• Strategic planning (incorporating the 

suitability of the existing structure to meet 
organisational objectives)

• Monthly key performance indicators
• Budget and long-term plan
• Investment appraisals for all development 

activities
• Asset management
• Procurement 
• Change management process for on-going 

improvements, eg. system development, 
structure changes

• Social value

All open market sale activity is undertaken 
in MHG. Schemes are individually appraised 
ensuring that expected returns, which will be 
used to cross subsidise affordable housing, are 
commensurate to the risks involved.

In our performance review we focused on our 
key operating performance indicators (KPIs). 

Our Value for Money (VfM) 
strategy brings together 
a number of supporting 
strategies to ensure a 
coherent and co-ordinated 
approach.

VfM key performance indicators Actual  
2017/2018

Target
2017/2018

Actual  
2016/2017

Operating margin: all activities* 44% 35% 45%

Management cost per home: all activities £1,080 £1,152 £1,080

Gearing** 29% <35% 28%

Operating margin: social housing lettings 43% 40% 43%

Management cost per home: social housing 
lettings

£868 £917 £869

Responsive maintenance costs per home: general 
needs, housing for older people and supported

£763 £711 £737

Bad debts per home £13 £82 £22

Home per FTE staff member 53 47 52

* Operating margin: all activities includes gain on staircasings and redemptions.
** Gearing - uses housing property cost before depreciation and impairment

We have also continued to monitor the range of 
KPIs focused on VfM (as reported in last years 
financial statements), report on our performance 
on the seven VfM metrics specified by the new 
VfM Standard and have participated in the 
Sector benchmarking pilot. This information 
is reported to the Board which allows them 
to monitor how effective the business is in 
achieving its objectives and how efficient it  
is in delivering against targets in line with 
anticipated costs.

Despite the challenging environment we 
performed well in our VfM key performance 
indicators. 

• Responsive maintenance costs per home 
were impacted by higher asbestos survey 
and removal costs.

• The operating margin is slightly lower than 
last year reflecting the higher spend on the 
Pollards Hill regeneration and lower margins 
achieved on first tranche sales. However 
we still exceeded our target with higher 
surpluses than budgeted on first tranche 

Actual 
2017/2018

Target
2017/2018

Actual
2016/2017
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sales and staircasings and redemptions (of 
shared ownership properties and equity 
loans respectively), together with a lower 
bad debt charge than expected. 

• Bad debts per home is significantly lower 
than budgeted as a result of delays with the 
implementation of Universal Credit which 
meant our actual bad debt was significantly 
lower than expected.

• Homes per FTE staff member is higher than 
budget reflecting lower numbers of staff 
than budgeted.

We also monitor the high level performance 
of return on assets by comparing the surplus 
generated each year to average net assets, 
calculated as surplus for the year of £64.5m 
and the average of the opening and closing 
net assets of £351.1m. The return on net fixed 
assets less unamortised grant received is also 
monitored for rented and shared ownership 
(including first tranche sales) properties. These 
indicators have been chosen as they provide a 
broad measure of how successful the business 
has been in utilising its assets during the year.

The overall return on assets has improved 
significantly with our surplus for the year 
increasing from £47.8m to £64.5m, helped by 
a £5.7m increased gain on disposal of fixed 
assets to £20.1m.

The small decrease in the return on rented 
assets results mainly from the 1% rent cut 
together with the disposal of 300 units of 
stock in Hertfordshire. The decrease in return 
on shared ownership reflects the reduction in 
margin achieved on first tranche sales to 20% 
from 31% in the previous year, although this 
was still in excess of our target margin for the 
year of 13.6%. The profit margin on the first 
tranche sale of homes for shared ownership 
depends in part on the schemes in question 
and the tenure mix and history of the site, but 
we remain pleased with our performance in 
this area.

VfM Metrics
The Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) 
published a new VfM Standard and Code of 
Practice in April 2018, including seven VfM 
metrics specified to enable comparison across 
the sector. We will benchmark to our peers 
on these metrics in our 2018/2019 financial 
statements.

We performed well in 2017/2018 as compared 
to the previous year.

• The lower EBITDA MRI interest cover % and 
the higher Headline social housing cost per 
unit have both been impacted by the spend 
on the Pollards Hill regeneration. Excluding 

Actual  
2017/2018

Actual  
2016/2017

Surplus on average net assets 18.3% 16.2%

Return on net fixed assets less unamortised grant received:

Rented 5.6% 5.9%

Shared ownership 6.7% 8.1%

Actual  
2017/2018

Actual  
2016/2017

Reinvestment % 7% 6%

New supply delivered (Social Housing Units) % 3% 2%

Gearing %* 32% 32%

EBITDA MRI Interest Cover % 201% 224%

Headline social housing cost per unit (HSHC) £ £3,340 £2,770

Operating margin %

       Operating margin (social housing lettings only) % 43% 43%

       Operating margin (overall) %** 34% 36%

Return on capital employed (ROCE) % 5.13% 4.96%

* Gearing - uses housing property cost after depreciation and impairment.
** Operating margin (overall): excludes gain on staircasings and redemptions.

the Pollards Hill spend the metrics would 
have been EBITDA MRI 241% (2017: 230%) 
and HSHC per unit £2,840 (2017: £2,672)

• The overall operating margin has fallen 
mainly due to the reduction in sales margins 
on first tranche sales, which still performed 
better than expected when the schemes 
were appraised.

Benchmarking against our peers
During the year we took part in the Sector 
Benchmarking exercise based on the 
2016/2017 financials. We compared well to 
the 315 organisations that participated. There 
were fifteen metrics across 5 themes covering 
Business Health; Development – Capacity and 
Supply; Outcomes Delivered; Effective Asset 
Management; and Operating Efficiencies. It is 
seven of these metrics that the RSH has used 
in the 2018 VfM Standard, although it should 
be noted that there are some differences to the 
method of calculation of these metrics. 

We used the Interactive Tool provided to 
benchmark ourselves against a peer group of 
seventeen organisations we selected on the 
basis of stock numbers, type of association 
and location. The peer group consists of 
A2Dominion; Catalyst; Family Mosaic; Genesis; 
Guinness; Hyde; London and Quadrant; 
Metropolitan; Network Homes; Notting Hill; 
Orbit; Paradigm; Peabody; Radian; Southern; 
Sovereign; and Thames Valley. Our relative 
performance is set out on the next page.

Actual 
2017/2018

Actual
2016/2017

Actual 
2017/2018

Actual
2016/2017

Return on assets

VfM metrics

Strategic report
Value for money
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2016/2017 Ranking

Business health

Operating margin (%) 36% 6

Operating profit (social housing lettings) (%) 43% 5

Interest Cover - EBITDA (MRI) (%) 224% 7

Development - capacity and supply

Units developed (absolute) (No.) 406 14

Units developed (as a percentage of units owned) (%) 2.40% 7

Gearing (%) 34% 3

Outcomes delivered

Customer satisfaction (%) 81% 5

£s invested for every £ generated from operations in communities (£) £0.01 12

£s invested for every £ generated from operations in new housing £1.52 8

Effective Asset Management

Return on Capital employed (ROCE) (%) 4.96% 2

Occupancy (%) 97.56% 17

Ratio of responsive repairs to planned maintenance spend (%) 1.15% 17

Operating efficiencies

Headline social housing cost per unit (£) £2,214 1

Rent collected (%) 98.87% 18

Overheads as a percentage of adjusted turnover (%) 7.95% 3

Comments on some selected items:

• Units developed (absolute) - Moat is one of 
the smallest in terms of unit numbers within 
the peer group.

• £s invested for every £ generated from 
operations in communities – there may 
be wide variations in what peers class as 
community spend.

• Occupancy – we believe Moat reported this 
lower than it should have been by including 
properties under management not available 
to let.

• Ratio of responsive repairs to planned 
maintenance spend – during 2016/2017 
we suspended much of the planned 
maintenance program while retendering 
the contract and therefore the ranking is 
unsurprising.

• The headline social housing cost per unit 
includes social leasehold and equity loans 
in the unit calculation which have been 
excluded in the VfM metric. 

• Rent collected – we targeted over the last 
12 to 18 months to improve and we have 
made significant progress as evidenced by 
the improvement shown in the Performance 
Review.

Not withstanding weaker performance in 
certain areas, we were in the upper range of 
the selected peer group for the majority of 
measures. Indeed across the 18 associations 
Moat was ranked second overall. It was a useful 
exercise for us in that it highlights a handful of 
areas of relative underperformance, but does not 
appear to identify any which were not already 
being tackled as part of our corporate plan. 

Procurement
We are a member of two procurement 
consortia, have a number of framework 
agreements with panels of service providers, 
and we involve the Procurement team in 
all tender activity with the aim of securing 
improved VfM while protecting the quality of  
 

our services and maintaining compliance with 
legislation.

Our 2018/2019 budget includes cost savings 
of circa £1.2m pa from retendering contracts. 
We are saving £0.6m from the reduction 
in our annual insurance premium; 10% on 
kitchens and bathrooms; 10% on windows 
and doors; lower inspection/removal unit costs 
on asbestos that like for like would generate 
£50k per annum; and a saving of £0.4m on gas 
servicing, repairs and boiler replacements.

Moody’s ratings assessment and 
comparison of rated registered 
providers
We use information published by Moody’s 
to assess our relative performance. On 26 
February 2018 Moody’s published their annual 
‘Sector In Depth’ report for UK Housing 
Associations based on 2017 results. 

2016/2017 Ranking
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We are rated A2 by Moody’s and only two 
providers have a higher rating. Against this very 
strong peer group we ranked 14th on operating 
margin out of 40. This is an extremely positive 
achievement given our relatively substantial 
development programme and a testament to 
the quality of our risk management.

Whilst the Moody’s rating does not provide a 
direct opinion on VfM, it demonstrates Moody’s 
positive opinion of Moat’s strong financial 
performance, which leads to reduced funding 
costs on new borrowings

Key areas for improvement
We targeted the following areas to focus on in 
2017/2018 which have been discussed in our 
performance review:

• Arrears – we improved our arrears 
performance to 3.71% from 5.06% in the 
previous year, significantly beating our 
target of 4.25%.  

• Customer offer – we have undertaken a lot 
of work to define the customer offer across 
many of our services including refocusing 
customer expectations, and this work is 
ongoing.

• Digital strategy – our new website was 
launched at the end of May 2018 and has 
improved self-service opportunities for 
customers. 

We recognise that improving value for money 
from our activities is a continuous process,  
and our focus for 2018/2019 will be:

• Arrears – we have set ourselves an 
ambitious target of arrears at 3%. This is 
despite an expected significant adverse 
impact from the roll out of Universal Credit 
during the year. Given the uncertainty of the 
impact of Universal Credit, which we track 
separately, we will keep this target under 
review as the year progresses.

• Digital strategy – investment in our digital 
strategy continues during 2018/2019 and 
we have budgeted for savings in resource 
requirements to commence during the year. 

Targets for 2018/2019
Our key targets for next year which were 
approved as part of our detailed budget and 
strategic plan are shown in the table opposite.

Although VfM metrics are not our key operating 
targets for the coming year, we have as part 
of the budget process estimated what they 
will be for 2018/2019 and will monitor our 
performance against these projections.

VfM metrics

Reinvestment % 7.1%

New supply delivered % 2.8%

Gearing % < 35%

EBITDA MRI Interest Cover % 148%

Headline social housing cost per unit £3,400

Operating margin (social housing lettings only) % 40%

Operating margin (overall) % 27%

Return on captial employed (ROCE) % 3%

Target

Financial

Operating margin (excluding gain on disposal of staircasings and 
redemptions)

27%

Management cost per home: all activities £1,141

Interest cover 2.6

Gearing < 35%

Delivering homes

New home starts 600

New build completions 525

Operational

Overall satisfaction with services provided 80%

Routine repairs: right first time 95%

Current tenant gross arrears: 8 week rolling average 3.00%

Void turnaround in days 17

Target

Projections

Strategic report
Value for money
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Our 2017/2018 financial 
results show our continuing 
financial strength. The 
overall surplus for the year 
of £64.5m (2017: £48.1m) 
shows a 34% increase. 

Our overall operating margin remains very 
strong at 44%, reducing only slightly. Our 
operating margin will fluctuate as it is impacted 
by the profile and profitability of our shared 
ownership sales programmes.

Social Housing Lettings
The operating margin on social housing  
lettings has remained unchanged at 43%.  
Our performance incorporates the second 
year of the 1% decrease in rents for our rented 
homes; increases as per leases for our shared 
ownership homes; £3m higher spend on 
maintenance; and £0.6m higher depreciation 
reflecting our increased housing properties 
portfolio.

First tranche sales
While the margin on our first tranche sales 
has fallen to 20% from 31%, the lower 
margins were above budget and we have not 
experienced a fall in expected sales values.

Other operating activities
Other operating costs include £1.7m spend 
on the Pollards Hill regeneration (2017: £0.9m) 
and an impairment of £0.7m relating to a 
scheme which we are planning to redevelop 
(2017: £1.7m impairment). 

Staircasings and redemptions
The surplus on subsequent sales of shared 
ownership properties and on equity loan 
redemptions has continued to improve, with 
increased margins of 51.2% on staircasings 
(2017: 48.2%) and 34% on redemptions  
(2017: 28.2%).

Stock rationalisation disposals realised a 
surplus of £20.1m (2017: £14.4m) with 300 
homes being sold in Hertfordshire to another 
registered provider.

Funding costs
The movement in value of financial instruments 
not treated as hedging instruments shows a 
£7.3m gain. This includes £5.3m which is the 
impact of restructuring a £10m swap to enable 
it to be used as a hedging instrument. In other 
comprehensive income, the fair value of our 
interest rate swaps which are accounted for as 
hedging our loan portfolio improved by £1.3m.

Net interest costs fell by £3.0m to £17.8m 
(2017: £20.7m). We continued to benefit 
from unusually low interest rates throughout 
2017/2018 with 3 month LIBOR averaging 
only 0.43% and from the beneficial impact of 
breaking a £20m interest swap in March 2017. 
Additional break costs of £1.4m were incurred 
in March 2018 which will reduce interest costs 
throughout 2018/2019. We capitalised interest 
of £3.4m (2017: £2.5m). 

Gearing remains consistently low at 29% 
(2017: 28%), however, we are expecting it to 
increase with additional planned spend on 
development as further debt is drawn.
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Income and expenditure 2017/2018
£m

2017/2018
£m

2017/2018
£m

2017/2018
£m

2017/2018
£m

Income from social housing lettings 97.1 95.7 93.1 86.7 77.1

First tranche sale proceeds 25.1 23.2 25.1 16.7 15.2

Other income 2.1 2.1 2.5 7.9 4.5

Turnover 124.3 121.0 120.7 111.3 96.8

Operating costs from social housing lettings (55.6) (54.1) (55.1) (52.0) (45.5)

Cost of first tranche sales (20.0) (16.0) (14.9) (11.7) (11.6)

Other operating costs (6.3) (7.0) (5.7) (9.0) (4.1)

Gain on disposal of fixed assets (staircasings and redemptions) 12.5 10.9 10.2 8.0 5.2

Operating surplus 54.9 54.8 55.2 46.6 40.8

Gain on disposal of fixed assets 20.1 14.4 2.4 0.8 (0.4)

Gain on disposal of investments - - 2.0 - -

Movement in fair values 7.3 (0.7) (0.8) (6.8) -

Net interest costs (17.8) (20.7) (20.5) (19.5) (16.6)

Taxation (0.1) 0.3 (0.4) (0.2) -

Surplus for the year 64.5 48.1 37.9 20.9 23.8

Operating margin** 44% 45% 46% 42% 42%

Operating margin: social housing lettings 43% 43% 41% 40% 41%

* 2013/2014 is not restated under FRS102.
** Operating margin includes gain on staircasings and redemptions

Financial position 2017/2018
£m

2017/2018
£m

2017/2018
£m

2017/2018
£m

2017/2018
£m

Housing properties 1,325 1,268 1,235 1,183 636

Other fixed assets 69 74 84 96 30

Net current assets 69 55 38 21 29

Housing loans, grants and other long term liabilities (1,078) (1,078) (1.083) (1,062) (430)

Capital and reserves 385 319 274 238 265

Gearing** 29% 28% 30% 30% 28%

* 2013/2014 is not restated under FRS102
** Gearing - uses housing property cost before depriciation and impairment

2018 2017
£m % £m %

Housing properties at cost 1,478 1,411

Depreciation and impairment (153) (143)

1,325 1,268

Financed by:

Loans (net of cash) 425 32% 402 32%

Grant 451 34% 459 36%

Reserves 439 33% 375 29%

Other 10 1% 32 3%

1,325 100% 1,268 100%

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016 2014/2015 2013/2014*

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016 2014/2015 2013/2014*

Strategic report
Our finances
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Treasury
Our Treasury Policy is designed to ensure 
sufficient liquidity and to reduce our exposure to 
risk. It is reviewed by the Finance  
Committee annually. 

Liquidity
Borrowings at 31 March 2018 were £458m 
(2017: £428m) and there were undrawn facilities 
in place of £102m (2017: £139m), which 
together with cash of £32m (2017: £27m) gave 
available liquidity of £134m (2017: £166m). 
The debt is mostly borrowed from banks and 
building societies in the UK as well as from the 
capital markets through bond issuance with 
an own-name bond of £150m. All loans are 
secured by first fixed charges over housing 
properties. 

Refinancing risk is managed by ensuring that a 
minimal proportion of the overall debt portfolio is 
repayable over the next five years.

The main factor affecting the amount and timing 
of borrowing is the pace of the development 
programme and we are seeking to raise 
additional funds of up to £135m in 2018/2019  
to support this programme.

Cash surpluses are invested in highly-rated 
UK regulated institutions. We currently hold a 
minimum of £15m of strategic investments in 
instant access AAA-rated money market funds 
to mitigate against disruption in borrowing 
against committed loan facilities.

Public bond
The £150m, 5% 2041, secured bond was 
issued by Moat Homes Finance plc in 2011 
when £100m was sold to investors, and the 
remaining £50m was sold during 2013/2014. 
The finance raised has been lent to MHL under 
a secured loan agreement. The interest payable 
on the bond is fixed rate therefore there is no 
exposure to variable rate movements. The 
interest payable by MHL to MHF is at the same 
fixed rate. The bond is secured by a first fixed 
charge over housing properties, valued at 
market value subject to tenancy, which meets 
the asset cover ratio. The properties charged 
are owned by MHL and under a Security Trust 
Deed provide the security for the intergroup loan 
and the Bond.

Santander    Lloyds    Nationwide    RBS/NatWest    Fresh Plc    HALOS    THFC    MHF Bond    AHF/EIB loan

£160m

£140m

£120m

£100m

£80m

£60m

£40m

£20m

0

Drawn

Undrawn

The breakdown of drawn and undrawn 
facilities by funder is: 

Within one year     Between one and two years      Between two and five years      In more than five years

£450m

£400m

£350m

£300m

£250m

£200m

£150m

£100m

£50m

The maturity profile of the existing  
loan portfolio is:
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2018 2017
£m % £m %

Variable rate 62 14% 41 10%

Fixed rate 396 86% 387 90%

Total borrowings 458 428

The position at 31 March 2018 including 
interest rate swaps was:

Hedging
Our hedging strategy seeks to manage interest 
rate risk by requiring between 60%-90% of our 
debt to be at fixed rates. Interest rate swap 
agreements are in place to hedge against 
exposure to variable interest rates. We monitor 
market conditions for opportunities to reduce 
future borrowing costs and if identified we may 
enter into new swaps and/or break or modify 
existing swaps. Interest rate swaps are marked 
to market with movements in the fair value 
shown in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. The financial impact on 2017/2018 is 
discussed in the Financial Review. 

Currency risk
There is no currency risk as all borrowings and 
deposits are in Sterling.

Covenants
Our primary covenants on our debt facilities 
are set at borrowing entity level and all were 
complied with throughout the year. Our bank 
loans have both interest cover and gearing 
covenants, whilst our public bond requires the 
maintenance of asset cover. Our covenants are 
closely monitored and were complied with at  
31 March 2018.

Cash flows
The Group statement of cash flows is on 
page 48. The statement shows continued high 
levels of capital spend on fixed asset housing 
properties at £100m (2017: £74m) and £32m 
(2017: £28m) on housing properties to be sold. 
This has been funded mainly by cash generated 
from first tranche sales, fixed asset property 
sales and drawdown of funds.

Strategic report
Our finances
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Our risk management 
approach is defined within 
our Risk Strategy and 
Management Framework 
which is reviewed and 
updated by the Audit 
Committee annually. 

The aim of the strategy is to ensure that 
risks are identified and managed effectively 
with a level of residual risk acceptable to the 
business. We have also developed a Risk 
Appetite Statement which has been approved 
by the Board.

Risks are divided into operational risks, which 
are managed by the senior leadership team 
and reviewed quarterly by the Executive Team, 
and strategic risks which are reviewed at every 

Audit Committee meeting and by the Board 
twice each year. Risks are monitored based 
on their potential impact and likelihood of 
occurrence. The register details the risk, the 
risk rating and trend and mitigating actions  
that are being taken.

Three risks with the highest risk ratings have 
featured continuously in our Strategic Risk 
Register in the recent past and these are  
noted below together with mitigating actions:

Risk Mitigating actions

Exposure to falling house 
prices, particularly in market 
sale business and shared 
ownership

We mitigate this risk by taking a conservative approach 
to valuations and first tranche share levels in investment 
appraisals. Values are updated every three months 
to ensure we have a clear view on our exposure on all 
projects in contract. Data on all potential sales for the 
year is kept under continual review including the likely 
surplus/deficit on first tranche sales for all homes to be 
sold in the year. Exposure to outright sales is contained 
within the subsidiary, MHG.

Reduced availability 
of credit impacting on 
the ability to sell shared 
ownership products

Over the last few years we have mitigated this risk by 
marketing the majority of new homes up to a year 
before handover and maintaining lists of interested 
applicants before the scheme is launched. We engage 
regularly in direct discussions with mortgage providers 
as well as Independent Financial Advisors on our panel. 
This helps us to monitor mortgage lending trends 
and any emerging policy changes as well as ensure 
new product models will be backed by appropriate 
mortgage offers. 

Welfare reform impact 
leading to increased 
customer debt

In response to the proposed changes to the housing 
benefits system we have improved rent collection 
protocols and resources, enhanced early intervention 
measures, provided closer support through the financial 
wellbeing team, and assigned specific resource to 
engage with those at high risk of arrears. We have 
introduced an online payment facility via our website, 
which should help to free up staff resource to deal 
with customers who are at risk of falling behind with 
payments. We continue to actively engage with under-
occupiers and are working with Local Authorities to 
offer support where required. Rent payments of those 
affected by under occupation are separately tracked 
and analysed.
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Strategic report
Governance

Our Board is responsible 
for the strategic direction 
of Moat, and ensuring the 
business is run effectively 
and efficiently to achieve 
the long term ambition to 
eliminate housing need.

Regulatory compliance
In the annual stability check by the Regulator 
of Social Housing (RSH) we maintained the top 
level G1 V1 regulatory judgement.

The Board has adopted the main principles of 
the UK Corporate Governance Code and has 
complied with its provisions as far as they can 
reasonably be applied to a registered provider 
with charitable objectives. The areas of non-
compliance are:

• C.1.3 – We do not produce half-yearly 
financial statements, these are not required 
by the RSH; and

• E.1, E.1.1, & E.1.2 – The requirements 
in relation to dialogue with shareholders 
who are not non-executives. Of our 12 
shareholders, seven are non-executives and 
all 12 have equal shareholdings.

Organisational structure
Our Board is made up of non-executive 
members and executives. Board member 
details are set out on page 31. At the date 
of approving these financial statements the 
Board consisted of 8 non-executives and 3 
executives. Two new members of the Board 
have been appointed to bring additional 
experience.

The previous Chair, Liz McMeikan, took 
compassionate leave in January 2018 and then 
resigned in March 2018 for family reasons. 
Steve White became acting chair in January 
2018 and following a review process, assisted 
by Odgers Berndtson, was appointed chair in 
May 2018.

Recruitment and selection of new members is 
based upon the skill set of the Board, aligned 
with the current and planned activities of the 
Group. Board composition is also monitored 
against Moat’s Equality and Diversity Policy.

The Board undertakes an annual review of its 
performance collectively as well as appraising 
each member individually. This year a Board 
Effectiveness review was undertaken with the 

help of external advisors. As well as formal 
Board meetings, the Board arranges site visits 
to different Moat offices and schemes, an 
annual awayday to review strategy, and training 
sessions.

The Board delegates some of its responsibilities 
to the Executive Team, who are listed on 
page 31, and to Committees. There are five 
Committees and each has a group wide remit 
with clear terms of reference and delegated 
authority. Membership of Committees and 
attendance records are listed on page 32. 
The detailed Terms of Reference are reviewed 
annually and may be accessed online at  
moat.co.uk. 

Audit Committee
The role of the Audit Committee is to 
monitor the integrity of accounts, review 
the effectiveness of internal control systems 
including management, operational, and 
financial controls, and to monitor Moat’s risk 
management systems. As part of this work the 
committee monitors the terms of appointment 
and work of both the internal and external 
auditors, and has a direct and regular line of 
communication with them.

Finance Committee
The role of the Finance Committee is to monitor 
financial and development performance. The 
Committee also ensures that Moat adopts 
sound treasury management, borrowing, and 
investment policies and strategies.

Customer and Communities Committee
The Customer and Communities Committee is 
responsible for overseeing the delivery of great 
service for Moat customers. The Committee 
reviews analysis of business intelligence driven 
data and customer feedback to identify trends 
and help the development and implementation 
of customer focused solutions. The Committee 
approves appraisals of significant community 
initiatives presented via Moat Foundation and 
oversees the Moat People Strategy.

Moat Financial Statements 2017/2018  26



Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is responsible 
for reviewing the remuneration of the Chief 
Executive, the Executive Team, senior 
management, and non-executive directors. 

Governance and Nominations 
Committee
The role of the Governance and Nominations 
Committee is to review the effectiveness of 
governance arrangements, the composition of 
the Board and Committees, and succession 
planning. The Committee also leads the 
process for Board appointments, making 
recommendations to the Board for its approval. 
External recruitment consultants assisted the 
Committee with the recruitment of new  
non-executive directors and the appointment 
of the Chair.

Approved by the Board and signed on its 

Strategic report
Governance

Steve White
Chair

26 July 2018
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Report of the 
Audit Committee

Report of the Audit Committee

The Board delegates 
certain of its duties and 
responsibilities and powers 
to the Audit Committee, 
so that these can receive 
suitably focused attention.

The Committee’s principal purpose is to ensure, 
on behalf of the Board, that financial reporting, 
the audit process and systems of internal 
control and risk management are appropriate 
and effective across all parts of Moat. 

The Committee meets its responsibilities by 
receiving assurances from the Executive Team 
and other senior managers of Moat, receiving 
and reviewing reports on risk management 
and internal control procedures, and directing 
the work of and receiving reports from the 
internal and external auditors. The Executive 
Director: Finance and Corporate Services 
presents the annual financial statements 
which the Committee reviews and scrutinises 
through questioning the external auditors and 
management.

Composition
The Committee comprises three non-executive 
directors as shown on page 32 together with 
their attendance record.  

In addition to the formal members of the 
Committee, the following are invited to attend 
on a regular basis:

• Chief Executive

• Executive Director: Finance and Corporate 
Services and Company Secretary

• Director of Accounting Services

• Director of Corporate Finance & Risk

• Head of Health, Safety and Facilities 
Management

• External and internal audit representatives

• Other occasional attendees included the 
other Executive Directors and the Chair.  

Meetings and activities during the year
Four meetings were held during the financial 
year. Standard items monitored at each meeting:

• Strategic Risk Register – reviews the status 
of strategic risks and updates the mitigating 
actions and considers any emerging risks 
which may need to be added.

• Internal audit – approves the annual 
programme ensuring key risks are 
covered; reviews each internal audit 
report for findings and best practice 
recommendations, management responses 
and actions; monitors subsequent progress.

• Health and safety (H&S) – receives a report 
on H&S audits, H&S performance and 
changes to legislation and best practice.

• Fraud, Whistleblowing, and Money 
laundering monitoring – receives reports of 
any suspected fraudulent activity, whistle-
blowing reports, or suspected money 
laundering and monitors any open cases.

• Benefits and Payments Register – reviews 
the benefits and payments register 
for transactions with individuals or 
organisations with links to Moat.

• Work programme – at each meeting 
the Committee reviews its forward work 
programme over a rolling twelve month period 
and the principal theme for each meeting.

Other specific matters considered during  
the year:

April 2017
• Accounting policies
• Anti-Money Laundering Policy
• Moat’s Disaster Recovery and Business 

Continuity Plans
• Assessment of readiness for GDPR
• Report on potential tenancy fraud and 

sub-letting
• Draft Strategic Report for March 2017 

financial statements

July 2017
• Annual assurance to the Board for financial 

statements
• External auditor’s audit highlights report
• Agreement on draft Letter of Representation 

to the external auditor
• Draft financial statements for Group and 

subsidiaries for 2016/17
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• Internal auditor’s annual report
• Private meeting with the external and 

internal auditors (no executives present)
• Project plan for implementation of GDPR
• Report on the investigation into fire affecting 

James Watt Way
• Private meeting to review effectiveness of 

Audit Committee

November 2017
• Effectiveness of external and internal audit 

service provision
• Risk Management Framework
• Whistleblowing Policy
• Anti-Fraud and Anti-Bribery Policy, and the 

Fraud Response Plan
• Outcome of insurance services retender 

and annual review of insurance renewal 
terms

• Update Report on GDPR
• Report on planned improvements to Moat’s 

Business Continuity Plans

January 2018
• Internal Audit Assessment and Plan for 

2018/19
• External Audit Plan for 2017/18
• Asset and Liability Register
• Update report on GDPR
• Update report on Section 20 process 

improvements
• Report on outcome from independent audit 

of key health and safety risk areas: Fire, 
Legionella, Asbestos, Gas, & Electricity 
(FLAGE)

Report of the Audit Committee

External Audit
BDO LLP was appointed in 2016 following 
a tendering exercise conducted by the 
Committee, and were re-appointed as auditor 
for the 2017/2018 Financial Statements at the 
AGM. The fee for audit was approved by the 
Committee when it reviewed the External Audit 
Plan in January 2018. BDO also reviews our 
covenant compliance certificate work for The 
Housing Finance Corporation facilities.

At the July 2018 meeting, the Committee 
reviewed and discussed together with 
management and BDO these consolidated 
financial statements. This Committee 
considered the following significant risks, 
agreed with BDO, to the preparation of these 
financial statements: 
• Impairment of properties held for sale - the 

only Key Audit matter – this is a strategic 
risk identified in the strategic risk register 
and reviewed at each Committee meeting, 
see page 25 and see note 2 on page 53.

• Revenue recognition – income should be 
correctly allocated to and in the appropriate 
period.

• Management override – effective internal 
controls should be in place. See the work 
carried out by independent internal auditors 
detailed below.

For each of the above areas the Committee 
considered the key facts and judgements 
outlined by management, who answered 
any queries or challenges posed by the 
Committee. The issues were also discussed 
with BDO and further information can 
be found in their report on page 39. The 
Committee was satisfied that there are 
relevant accounting policies in place in relation 
to these significant issues and management 
have correctly applied these policies.

Report risk classification

Business area Critical High Medium Low

Senior leadership team quarterly sign-off

Treasury management

Managing agents budget management

Information and cyber governance

Property services contract management

Initiation and management of development contracts

The Committee also reviewed a report on 
the annual board assurances in the financial 
statements, detailing the assurances given and 
the work performed to ensure compliance.  
Assurances covered included: 
• Appropriateness of adopting the going 

concern basis
• Compliance with UK Corporate Code of 

Governance
• Compliance with the Regulator of Social 

Housing’s Governance and Viability 
Standard and VfM Standard

• Strategic Report and financial statements 
taken as a whole are fair, balanced and 
understandable and that the Strategic 
Report follows the principles of the SORP

• Judgements and accounting estimates are 
reasonable

• Internal control assurance and key control 
policies review

The Committee was satisfied that these 
assurances could be given.

Internal Audit
Internal audit services for the year continued 
to be provided by Price Waterhouse 
Coopers (PwC), who were appointed in 2014 
following a tendering exercise conducted 
by the Committee. The annual internal audit 
programme is agreed in advance by the 
Committee but remains flexible in order to 
respond to any concerns that may arise. PwC 
adopt a risk-based approach to their audits. 
The audits carried out during the year and the 
assessed risk levels reported to the Committee 
were as follows in the table below:

Internal audits



Moat Financial Statements 2017/2018  30  

Internal Audit resource continues to be directed 
purposely towards areas where management, 
the Board, or PwC, raise concerns of 
increased risk and/or suspicion that controls 
may be weak or failing. In depth end-to-end, 
cross-functional reviews are undertaken 
to ensure processes are considered in 
their entirety. This is possible because of 
the assurance PwC gains from a ‘Senior 
Leadership Team Quarterly Sign Off’ process 
which is subject to annual audit by PwC. 
This robust, departmental, quarterly internal 
assurance process covers a wide range of 
operational risks and associated controls.

PwC has undertaken a follow-up review of  
prior findings and Executive Directors and other 
Moat officials attended committee meetings to 
provide explanation as appropriate. Outstanding 
action points continue to be kept to a minimum.

GDPR Readiness Assessment
The Committee commissioned PwC to 
undertake a review of Moat’s readiness for 
the implementation of GDPR. The report 
was presented in April 2017 and measured 
readiness against a maturity matrix and 
benchmarked Moat against other entities for 
which PwC had carried out similar reviews. 

The key findings of the report identified that 
Moat needed to update key policies to reflect 
the requirements of GDPR, improve visibility of 
data protection risks across the business, and 
review its data storage and sharing controls.

The Committee has received regular updates 
on the progress of the GDPR implementation 
project throughout the year. In the lead up to 
the May 2018 implementation date for GDPR 
a new Data Protection Policy was produced, 
supported by a Data Retention Schedule 
and Data Handling Guidance issued to all 
employees. The Committee will continue to 
monitor Moat’s data protection environment.

Specialist Health & Safety audits
In depth technical audits have been undertaken 
by independent consultants on each of the 
key FLAGE areas: fire, legionella, asbestos, 
gas, and electricity. Consultants were selected 
on their level of knowledge, qualifications, 
and experience in each area. Each audit 
undertook a review of Moat’s documentation, 
the processes in place, and the staff training 
programme. Consultants then produced a 
gap analysis including recommendations for 
improvement. No major non-compliance issues 
were identified. All recommendations have 
been included in action plans, and progress is 
reported regularly to the Audit Committee.

Summary and Conclusion
The Committee has examined the manner in 
which the Board and management ensure 
and monitor the adequacy of the nature, 
extent and effectiveness of internal control 
systems, and has concluded that sufficient 
reviews of the risk management and internal 
control arrangements are in place. These 
arrangements are designed to manage rather 
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives and can only provide 
reasonable, not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

The Committee is satisfied that its own report 
and those of the Internal and External Auditors 
cover all necessary matters and are supported 
by appropriate evidence to provide reasonable 
assurance to the Board on the adequacy 
and operations of internal controls. These 
controls include reliance upon assurances 
from the executive on risk mitigation activities 
and the operation of both operational and 
financial reporting controls, and that these 
are incorporated into normal governance 
procedures.

 

Gerard McCormack
Audit Committee Chair

26 July 2018

Report of the Audit Committee
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Secretary
• Greg Taylor

Registered office and advisors
•  Registered office:  

 Mariner House, Galleon Boulevard, Crossways, Dartford, Kent DA2 6QE
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 BDO LLP, 55 Baker Street, London W1U 7EU
•  Banker:  
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Moat Homes Limited Board Number of meetings attended 
(8 in total)

Steve White (appointed chair May 2018) Independent, Chair 8

Liz McMeikan (resigned March 2018) Independent, Chair 6

Ian Lindsay Senior Independent 8

Tim Boag (appointed December 2017) Independent 2

Mark Foster Independent 8

Gerard McCormack Independent 8

Jo Moran Independent 6

Elizabeth Rantzen Independent 8

Neil Rudge (appointed July 2018) Independent -

Sean Hanafin (resigned May 2017) Independent -

Elizabeth Austerberry Executive 8

Steve Nunn Executive 8

Greg Taylor Executive 8

Executive Team

Elizabeth Austerberry
Chief Executive

Steve Nunn  
Executive Director: Development and  
New Business

Greg Taylor  
Executive Director: Finance and  
Corporate Services

Anne-Britt Karunaratne  
(appointed October 2017)
Executive Director: Housing and  
Customer Services

Carli Harper-Penman
(resigned May 2017) 
Executive Director: Communications,  
Strategy and Business Intelligence

Directors’ report

Directors’ report
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Audit Committee Number of meetings attended 
(4 in total)

Gerard McCormack Chair 4

Mark Foster 4

Elizabeth Rantzen 3

Finance Committee Number of meetings attended  
(4 in total)

Tim Boag (appointed December 2017) Chair 2

Sean Hanafin (resigned May 2017) Chair -

Ian Lindsay 3

Gerard McCormack 4

Steve White 4

Neil Rudge (co-opted December 2017) 2

Greg Taylor 4

Customer & Communities Committee Number of meetings attended  
(4 in total)

Jo Moran Chair 4

Mark Foster 4

Elizabeth Rantzen 3

Elizabeth Austerberry (interim to October 2017) 1

Anne-Britt Karunaratne (appointed October 2017) 1

Remuneration Committee Number of meetings attended  
(3 in total)

Jo Moran Chair 3

Liz McMeikan (resigned March 2018) 2

Steve White 3

Governance & Nominations Committee Number of meetings attended  
(3 in total)

Steve White Chair 3

Liz McMeikan (resigned March 2018) Chair 2

Jo Moran 3

Directors’ report
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Directors’ report
Moat Homes Limited Board biographies

Board biographies
Steve White
Independent Chair

Steve joined Moat’s Board in July 2016. Steve has spent most of his career leading organisations through 
large transformational change, including four and a half years as Chief Executive of the Hyde Group, 
during which time he developed a passion for all things housing. Steve has also been the Chairman of 
Origin Housing and has worked as an independent interim executive including senior roles at The Law 
Society, University of Southampton, Solicitors Regulation Authority, RBS and T Mobile.

Ian Lindsay
Senior Independent Director

Ian joined Moat’s Board in June 2014. He is currently a partner at Aspire CP – a property consultancy 
specialising in strategic land acquisition and development management. Prior to Aspire CP, Ian served as 
Crossrail’s Land and Property Director for 7 years and before that was at Network Rail taking forward 
commercial re-developments of the main London and regional stations. Ian is a chartered surveyor and 
passionate about housing, having started his career as a housing officer and previously served on the board of 
Hexagon housing association. He has also worked at the Housing Corporation and as the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham’s Assistant Director for Regeneration and Housing.

Jo Moran
Independent Director

Jo joined Moat’s Board in June 2014. She is Head of Customer Service at Marks & Spencer, where her 
focus is on championing, planning and delivering the customer experience across all channels for the UK 
operation. Until July 2015, Jo was also Chair of Governors for her local primary school, taking an active 
role in putting her business skills to use in the community. It is as a result of this work that Jo has come 
to understand the key importance of stable and decent housing provision particularly in the context of 
successful education.

Mark Foster
Independent Director

Mark joined Moat’s Board in May 2016. He has spent most of his career in the entertainment industry in 
various marketing and international development roles. He has been at the forefront of digital transformation, 
particularly in the music and cinema sectors, affecting all aspects of business including customer engagement, 
marketing and reporting. Mark brings fresh perspective to Moat, as we seek to transform in order to better 
meet the needs of customers and stakeholders. Mark also serves as a non-executive director for 7Digital 
Group, is Chairman of MIDiA Research, and is a private property investor and landlord. 
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Gerard McCormack
Independent Director

Appointed to the Board in February 2015, Gerry brings 12 years of sector experience from his time as 
an Independent Director and Chair of Audit and Risk at Thames Valley Housing. A Scottish Chartered 
Accountant with a law degree, he has worked as Group Finance Director in publicly listed companies 
with substantial housebuilding and construction businesses. Gerry takes pride in putting his executive 
commercial and financial experience to work for the benefit of the RSL sector. He currently provides 
strategic and financial advice to a number of privately owned businesses and serves on the board of a 
not-for-profit regulatory body as Audit Committee Chair.

Elizabeth Rantzen
Independent Director

A Moat Board member since December 2016, Elizabeth’s background is with commercial organisations, in 
IT, retail and legal businesses; she now works exclusively in the public and not-for-profit sectors. She became 
involved in housing as a trustee of a small homelessness charity in London and spent many years on the board 
of Shelter, and as Director of the J Paul Getty Jr Trust, funding a range of innovative housing and community 
initiatives. Elizabeth’s other roles include Vice Chair of West London Mental Health Trust, Treasurer of the Prison 
Reform Trust and independent member of the Parole Board.

Tim Boag
Independent Director

Tim had a lengthy career at NatWest and has undertaken a variety of roles including risk, finance, 
structured finance and coverage. Tim was a Director of the Business Growth Fund for seven years, which 
provides long term capital to small and medium size enterprises. He was previously on the Chartered 
Banker Professional Standards Board and is a member of the CBI London Council. 

Neil Rudge
Independent Director

Neil joined Moat’s Board in July 2018 following a period on its Finance Committee. Neil’s background is in 
Financial Services and currently is the Managing Director responsible for the specialist asset and structured 
finance businesses at Shawbrook Bank, a UK based specialist lender. Prior to this Neil spent 15 years 
leading sales and financing businesses at both The Royal Bank of Scotland and Santander Global Banking 
and Markets across disciplines including structured real estate finance, risk management and specialist 
sector coverage. Neil is a Trustee at the School of Hard Knocks, a social inclusion charity utilising the power 
of sport to help disadvantaged children and young adults.
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Elizabeth Austerberry
Chief Executive

Elizabeth was appointed Chief Executive of Moat in January 2013, bringing her wealth of strategic, 
operational and financial management experience. Previously at Ernst & Young, Elizabeth was responsible 
for housing and residential real estate consultancy, and took a secondment to HM Treasury as a Director in 
the Asset Protection Agency. Previous roles include Managing Director of International Housing Solutions 
and Director at DTZ and at Savills.

Steve Nunn
Executive Director: Development and New Business

Steve was appointed as Moat’s Executive Director: Development and New Business in April 2009.
He has worked in the housing sector since 1989. He spent 18 years at the London and Quadrant Group
where his last role as Managing Director of the home ownership specialist, Tower Homes, saw him lead 
on Tower Homes’ three star audit inspection.

Greg Taylor
Executive Director: Finance

Greg was appointed as Moat’s Executive Director of Finance in December 2009. He was also the interim 
Chief Executive in 2012. He was previously the Finance Director of Cert Octavian plc. (a national logistics 
organisation) and held senior financial positions with Northgate plc and Schlumberger. He trained as a 
Chartered Accountant with Deloitte & Touche in London. Greg is also a qualified corporate treasurer. 

Anne-Britt Karunaratne
Executive Director: Housing and Customer Services

Anne-Britt was appointed in October 2017 and works with Moat’s Executive Management Team to further 
develop Moat’s vision for the future to meet the needs of both customers and stakeholders. Anne-Britt 
leads on customer operations, continually reviewing our customer offer to ensure we are a strong and 
approachable landlord. Passionate about customer service, Anne-Britt is a firm believer in the importance 
of understanding the needs of the customer and of developing staff in order to deliver consistent, quality 
services. Anne-Britt has worked in the housing sector since 1986 in both the social and private sectors.
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The directors present their annual report on the 
affairs of the Group together with the financial 
statements and auditor’s report, for the year 
ended 31 March 2018.

Principal activities 
MHL is a registered provider of social housing 
which is regulated by the Regulator of Social 
Housing (RSH). The activities of MHL and 
its subsidiaries, which form the Moat Group 
(Moat) have been detailed in the Strategic 
Report.

Business review
Details of Moat’s performance for the year 
and its future plans are set out in the Strategic 
Report which forms part of and should be read 
with this report. 

Post year end events
There have been no events post 31 March 
2018 which require disclosure. 

Reserves
Moat’s year end reserves for 2018 were 
£384.8m (2017: £318.7m), including a cash 
flow hedge reserve of £54.5m (2017: £55.9m)

Board members and executive 
officers
The Board and the Executive Team are set out 
on page 31. Biographies of Board members 
are on page 33 and show that they are drawn 
from a wide background bringing together 
professional and commercial experience. The 
Executive officers hold no interest in Moat’s 
shares and act as executives within the 
authority delegated by the Board.

UK Corporate Governance Code
The Board reviewed its practices against the 
UK Corporate Governance Code and ensured 
that it has applied the main principles of the 
Code and complied with its detailed provisions. 
The Governance section in the Strategic 
Report contains the required disclosures. 

Value for money (VfM)
The Board is responsible for ensuring 
compliance with the VfM standard. The Board 
has reviewed and approved the VfM section of 
the Strategic Report.

Transparency
Moat is committed to being open with its 
residents, stakeholders and the public as to 
how it spends its money and manages its 

business and publishes additional information 
online at moat.co.uk.

Going concern 
After making enquiries and reviewing the 
budget for 2018/2019 and the long-term 
financial plan, the Board has a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it 
continues to adopt the going concern basis in 
the financial statements.

Viability statement 
As required by the provisions of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code, the Board 
has undertaken an assessment of the future 
prospects of Moat taking account of its current 
position and principal risks. This assessment 
was made using Moat’s core business 
processes, including the following:

Long Term Plan (LTP) – the Board reviews the 
LTP each year as part of its strategic review 
process. The LTP process includes detailed 
stress testing which involves flexing a number 
of the main assumptions underlying the 
forecast both individually and together under 
particular scenarios.

Risk management – as set out in the Risk 
section of the Strategic Report, Moat has a 
structured approach to the management of risk 
and the principal risks identified are reviewed 
regularly by Board.

Liquidity – based on the output of the LTP and 
regular re-forecasting of cash flows the Board 
regularly reviews an analysis looking at the 
forecast working capital requirements, cash 
flow, committed borrowing and other facilities 
available to Moat.

In undertaking this review a period of three 
years has been selected. For the initial year 
of this three year period there is a greater 
level of certainty because detailed annual 
budgets are prepared and regularly re-forecast. 
Quarterly cash flow forecasts are reviewed by 
the Board covering a rolling three year period, 
and are used to ensure sufficient facilities are 
in place. The largest single area of spend is 
the development programme and the bulk 
of the committed development programme 
completes within a two year timeframe. Whilst 
development spend and required facilities are 
planned over a longer term than three years, 
the period chosen ensures that Moat is viable 
beyond its usual development commitment 
timeframe.

On the basis of this and other matters 
considered and reviewed by the Board 
during the year, the Board has reasonable 

expectations that Moat will be able to continue 
in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall 
due over the three year period used for the 
assessment.

Employees
The skills, expertise and goodwill of our 
employees are central to Moat’s continued 
success and Moat respects and values 
everyone’s contribution.

Moat places considerable value on the 
involvement of its employees. An Employee 
Forum, where employee representatives are 
consulted on a range of matters affecting their 
current and future interests, meets regularly 
and minutes of meetings are published to all 
employees. Regular communication with all 
employees takes place through publications 
like ‘Moat in Brief’ and information is 
disseminated through Town Hall meetings 
for all managers. All employees have regular 
one-to-one meetings with their manager and 
annual appraisals. Training programmes aim to 
equip employees with the skills they need to be 
successful in the future. 

A particular focus on the development of 
employees continues to be on promoting 
diversity and opportunity to ensure that Moat is 
a great place to work for all.

Slavery and Human Trafficking 
Moat is fully committed to combatting slavery 
and human trafficking. As part of its initiative to 
identify and mitigate risk during procurement 
it has implemented and enforces, effective 
systems and controls. Moat’s Modern Slavery 
Statement can be found online at moat.co.uk

Health and Safety
The Board is aware of its responsibilities on all 
matters relating to health and safety. Moat has 
prepared detailed health and safety policies 
and provided staff training and education on 
health and safety matters. 

Anti-Fraud and Anti-Bribery 
Statement
The Board has a policy on anti-fraud and 
anti-bribery covering the prevention, detection, 
and elimination of fraud, bribery, corruption, 
and dishonesty in all of Moat’s activities. Moat 
expects its business partners to adopt a similar 
approach and makes this a condition when 
entering into new contracts. 

A register is maintained of any reported frauds 
or potential frauds which is reviewed by the 
Audit Committee at every meeting, see Report 
of the Audit Committee.

Directors’ report
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Directors’ report

Statement of confirmation
The Board confirms that it considers that the 
Strategic Report and financial statements, 
taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information 
necessary to assess Moat’s performance, 
business model and strategy.

Statements of compliance
The Board confirms that the Strategic Report 
follows the principles set out in the Statement 
of Recommended Practice, Accounting by 
Registered Social Housing Providers Update 
2014 (SORP). 
The Board confirms its compliance with the 
Regulator of Social Housing Governance and 
Viability Standard.

Internal controls
The Board has overall responsibility for 
establishing and maintaining the whole system 
of internal control for Moat, and for reviewing 
its effectiveness and management of fraud. 
The Board’s responsibility extends over matters 
covering strategic, operational, financial, and 
compliance issues including treasury strategy 
and large new investment projects.

The Board recognises that no system of 
internal control can provide absolute assurance 
or eliminate all risk. The system of internal 
control is designed to manage, rather than 
eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives; and to provide reasonable, but 
not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. It also exists to give 
reasonable assurance about the preparation 
and reliability of financial information and the 
safeguarding of Moat’s assets and interests.

In meeting its responsibilities, the Board has 
adopted a risk-based approach to internal 
controls, which are embedded within the 
normal management and governance process. 
This approach includes the regular evaluation 
of the nature and extent of risks to which Moat 
is exposed.

The Board has a current strategy and policy 
on fraud covering prevention, detection and 
reporting of fraud and the recovery of assets. 
A separate fraud response plan and a whistle-
blowing policy are also in place.

Control procedures
The Board has adopted and disseminated to all 
employees a Code of Conduct for Employees. 
This sets out Moat’s requirements around the 
integrity and ethics of its employees. The Code 
is supported by a framework of policies and 
procedures which cover fraud prevention and 

detection, health and safety, data and asset 
protection, financial delegated authorities, 
segregation of duties, accounting, and treasury 
management. 

Internal controls assurance
Board meetings are held regularly and there 
is a defined schedule of matters reserved for 
decision by the Board. The process adopted 
by the Board in reviewing the effectiveness 
of the systems of internal control, together 
with some of the key elements of the control 
framework, includes:

Identification and evaluation of key risks
Management responsibility has been clearly 
defined for the identification, evaluation and 
control of significant risks. There is a formal 
and on-going process of management review 
in each area of Moat’s activities. This process 
is co-ordinated through a reporting framework 
to the Board. The Executive Team reviews 
the identified strategic risks facing Moat every 
month and is responsible for reporting to 
the Board any significant changes affecting 
key strategic risk areas as well as emerging 
strategic risks.

Monitoring and corrective action
A process of control, self-assessment, and 
regular management reporting on control 
issues provides hierarchical assurance to 
management and to the Board. This includes a 
rigorous procedure for ensuring that corrective 
action is taken in relation to any significant 
control issues, particularly those that may have 
a material impact on the financial statements 
and effective delivery of services.

Information and financial reporting systems
The Board approves a strategic plan in 
each financial year as well as a long term 
financial plan and budget. Financial reporting 
procedures include monthly management 
accounts and forecasts for the remainder of 
the financial year. Management accounts are 
reviewed at every Finance Committee meeting 
and the Board receives a comprehensive 
performance report measuring progress 
towards key business objectives, targets, and 
outcomes.

The Board has conducted its annual review 
of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control, and has taken account of any changes 
needed to maintain the effectiveness of the risk 
management and control process.

The Board continues to believe that 
outsourced provision of the internal audit 
function best supports an independent and 
detailed review of key procedures and controls 
across the business. 

Statement of responsibilities 
of the Board
The Board is responsible for preparing the 
Directors’ Report and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and 
regulations. 

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society 
law requires the Board to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under those 
regulations the Board has elected to prepare 
the financial statements in accordance with UK 
Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 
UK and Republic of Ireland. The Board must 
not approve the financial statements unless it is 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Group and the Association 
and of the surplus or deficit for that year. 

In preparing these financial statements, the 
Board is required to: 
• select suitable accounting policies and 

apply them consistently;
• make judgements and accounting 

estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• state whether applicable UK Accounting 

Standards and the Statement of 
Recommended Practice have been 
followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and 

• prepare the financial statements on 
the going concern basis, unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that Moat will 
continue in business. 

The directors are responsible for keeping 
proper books of account that disclose at any 
time the financial position of the Group and 
the Association and enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the 
Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008, and the Accounting Direction for Private 
Registered Providers of Social Housing 2015. 
They have general responsibility for taking 
such steps as are reasonably open to them 
to safeguard the assets of the Group and the 
Association and to prevent and detect fraud 
and other irregularities. 

The directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the corporate 
and financial information included on Moat’s 
website. Legislation in the UK governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in  
other jurisdictions.
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Annual general meeting
The annual general meeting will be held in 
September 2018. 

Disclosure of information to auditors
The Board members who held office at the 
date of approval of this Directors’ Report 
confirm that, so far as they are each aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which 
our auditors are unaware and each Board 
member has taken all the steps that he/she 
ought to have taken as a Board member to 
make himself/herself aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that our 
auditors are aware of that information. 

Auditors
A resolution to reappoint BDO LLP as external 
auditors shall be proposed at the annual 
general meeting.

Approved by the Board and signed on its 
behalf by:

Steve White
Chair

26 July 2018

Directors’ report
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Independent Auditor’s report

Independent 
Auditor’s report

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements 
of Moat Homes Limited (‘the Association’) 
and its subsidiaries (‘the Group’) for the year 
ended 31 March 2018 which comprise the 
consolidated and Association statement of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated and 
Association statement of financial position, 
the consolidated and Association statement 
of changes in equity, the consolidated 
statement of cash flows and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including 
Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the 

Group’s and of the Association’s affairs 
as at 31 March 2018 and of the Group’s 
and the Association’s surplus for the year 
then ended;

• have been properly prepared in 
accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; 
and

• have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, 
the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies (Group Accounts) Regulations 
1969, the Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008 and the Accounting Direction for 
Private Registered Providers of Social 
Housing 2015.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (‘ISAs 
(UK)’) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 

financial statements section of our report. We 
are independent of the Group and Association 
in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to principal risks, going 
concern and viability statement

We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following information in the annual report, 
in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us 
to report to you whether we have anything 
material to add or draw attention to:
•  the disclosures in the annual report set 

out on page 25 that describe the principal 
risks and explain how they are being 
managed or mitigated;

• the directors’ confirmation set out on 
page 37 in the annual report that they 
have carried out a robust assessment of 
the principal risks facing the association, 
including those that would threaten its 
business model, future performance, 
solvency or liquidity;

• the directors’ statement set out on page 
36 in the financial statements about 
whether the directors considered it 
appropriate to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting in preparing the 
financial statements and the directors’ 
identification of any material uncertainties 
to the association’s ability to continue 
to do so over a period of at least twelve 
months from the date of approval of the 
financial statements; or

• the directors’ explanation set out on 
page 36 in the annual report as to how 
they have assessed the prospects of 
the association, over what period they 
have done so and why they consider 
that period to be appropriate, and 
their statement as to whether they 
have a reasonable expectation that 

Independent Auditor’s 
report to the members 
of Moat Homes Limited
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the association will be able to continue 
in operation and meet its liabilities as 
they fall due over the period of their 
assessment, including any related 
disclosures drawing attention to any 
necessary qualifications or assumptions.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, 
in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and include 
the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) 
we identified, including those which had the 
greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, 
the allocation of resources in the audit; and 
directing the efforts of the engagement team. 
These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters, see table above.

Our application of materiality

We apply the concept of materiality both in 
planning and performing our audit, and in 
evaluating the effect of misstatements. We 
consider materiality to be the magnitude by 

Key Audit Matter - Net realisable value of properties held for sale

Sumary of key audit matter How we addressed the key audit matter in the audit

As detailed in note 18 to the financial statements, the group’s has 
£8.9m of completed properties held for sale and £47.0m of under 
construction properties held for sale. 

We considered the assumptions made and judgements applied 
by management in their assessment of carrying amounts, with 
detailed consideration of 15 larger schemes with an anticipated 
gross profit margin of less than 15%.

For properties under construction, management has performed an 
assessment of their realisable value using the support of external 
valuations, along with a consideration of costs to date against 
forecasts.

Third party property valuations were obtained to support 
anticipated sales values for these schemes with consideration of 
their independence and professional qualifications as well as the 
potential impact of the passing of time between the date of the 
valuation and the financial year end.

For completed properties, management has performed an 
assessment of their realisable value by comparing the sales price 
of properties sold during the year and subsequent to the end of 
the financial year against forecast. 

Sensitivity analysis was performed to determine the point at which 
a uniform reduction in anticipated sales prices or a rise in costs 
to complete would result in a material misstatement. Thresholds 
necessary to generate a material misstatement were calculated 
with amounts outside of 10% thresholds that would trigger further 
testing. 

Due to the level of judgement involved in estimating both sales 
proceeds and costs to complete we consider the recognition 
of properties developed for sale at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value to be a key judgement and a risk for the audit.

which misstatements, including omissions, 
could influence the economic decisions of 
reasonable users that are taken on the basis 
of the financial statements. Importantly, 
misstatements below these levels will not 
necessarily be evaluated as immaterial as 
we also take into account of the nature of 
identified misstatements, and the particular 
circumstances of their occurrence, when 
evaluating their effect on the financial 
statements as a whole.

We determined materiality for the financial 
statements as a whole to be £27.1m  
(2017: £25.6m), which approximates to 1.8% 
(2017: 1.8%) of total assets, with specific 
materiality of £3.2m (2017: £3.6m), which 
approximates to 4.5% (2017: 5%) of adjusted 
operating surplus. We consider total assets to 
be a key indicator for members of the Group 
and Association in assessing the financial 
position of the Group and Association, with 
adjusted operating surplus relevant where 
members are assessing the operating 
performance of the Group and Association. 
Adjusted operating surplus is calculated by 
adding back depreciation and impairment 
and deducting opening market sales to/from 
operating surplus. 

Performance materiality is the application 
of materiality at the individual account or 

balance level set at an amount to reduce to 
an appropriately low level the probability that 
the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected 
misstatements exceeds materiality for the 
financial statements as a whole. Performance 
materiality was set at 71% (2017: 69%) of 
materiality or specific materiality depending 
on the financial statement area being audited. 
In setting the level of performance materiality. 
We considered a number of factors including 
the expected total value of known and likely 
misstatements (based on past experience 
and other factors) and management’s attitude 
towards proposed adjustments.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we 
would report to the committee all individual 
audit differences in excess of £50,000 with 
separate thresholds for components. We 
also agreed to report differences below this 
threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting 
on qualitative grounds.

Materiality for the Association was set at 
£24.4m (2017: £25.4m) with a specific 
materiality set at £2.9m (2017: £3.6m).

An overview of the scope of our audit

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure 
that we performed enough work to be able to 
give an opinion on the financial statements as 
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a whole, taking into account the geographic 
structure of the Group, the accounting 
processes and controls, and the industry in 
which the Group operates. 

In establishing the overall approach to 
the Group audit, we assessed the audit 
significance of each reporting component in 
the Group by reference to both its financial 
significance and other indicators of audit risk, 
such as the complexity of operations and the 
degree of estimation and judgement in the 
financial results. 

Classification of components

A full scope statutory audit was carried out for 
each subsidiary that we considered to be a 
significant component of the Group.  

Audit work on all components was performed 
by BDO UK both for the purposes of reporting 
on the individual financial statements and 
for group/consolidation purposes. Individual 
component audits were carried out using 
component materialities of between 0-90% of 
overall financial statement materiality.  

Other information

The Board are responsible for the other 
information. Other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, 
other than the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other 
information we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information including the Chair’s 
Statement and the Strategic Report and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the 
financial statements or a material misstatement 
of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other 
information we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

In this context, we also have nothing to report 
in relation to our responsibility to specifically 
address the following items in the other 
information. We would be required to report, 
as uncorrected material misstatements of the 

other information, where we conclude that 
those items meet the following conditions:

•  Fair, balanced and understandable set out 
on page 37 – the statement given by the 
board that they consider the annual report 
and financial statements taken as a whole 
is fair, balanced and understandable and 
provides the information necessary for 
members to assess the Association’s 
performance, business model and 
strategy, is materially inconsistent with our 
knowledge obtained in the audit; or

•  Audit committee reporting set out on 
pages 28 to 30 - the section describing 
the work of the audit committee does 
not appropriately address matters 
communicated by us to the audit 
committee; and

•  Directors’ statement of compliance 
with the UK Corporate Governance 
Code set out on page 37 - the parts 
of the directors’ statement relating to 
the company’s compliance with the UK 
Corporate Governance Code do not 
properly disclose a departure from a 
relevant provision of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code.

Matters on which we are required to 
report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters where we are required by the 
Co-operative or Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014 or the Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008 to report to you if, in our opinion:

•  the information given in the Directors’ 
report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is not 
consistent with the financial statements;

•  adequate accounting records have not 
been kept by the parent Association; or

•  a satisfactory system of control has not 
been maintained over transactions; or

•  the parent Association financial 
statements are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or

•  we have not received all the information 
and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of the Board

As explained more fully in the statement of 
responsibilities of the Board, the Board is 
responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view, and for such internal 
control as the board members determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the board 
are responsible for assessing the Group and 
the Association’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the board 
either intend to liquidate the Group or the 
Association or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website 
at: frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Other matters 

Following the recommendation of the audit 
committee, we were appointed by the Board 
on 20 January 2017 to audit the financial 
statements for the year ending 31 March 2017 
and subsequent financial periods. The period 
of total uninterrupted engagement is 2 years, 
covering the years ending 31 March 2017 to 
31 March 2018.

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard were not provided to the 
Group or the parent Association and we remain 
independent of the Group and the parent 
Association in conducting our audit.

Our audit opinion is consistent with the 
additional report to the audit committee.
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Use of our report

This report is made solely to the members 
of the Association, as a body, in accordance 
with in accordance with the Housing and 
Regeneration Act 2008 and the Co-operative 
and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014.  
Our audit work has been undertaken so that 
we might state to the Association’s members 
those matters we are required to state to them 
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Association and the members 
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or 
for the opinions we have formed.

Philip Cliftlands 
Senior Statutory Auditor

For and on behalf of BDO LLP London

       Date

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership 
registered in England and Wales (with 
registered number OC305127).
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Notes 2018 2017

£000 £000

Turnover 3 124,343 120,970

Operating costs 3 (61,922) (61,075)

Cost of sales 3 (19,987) (15,990)

Gain on disposal of fixed assets (staircasings and redemptions) 3 12,476 10,943

Operating surplus 3 54,910 54,848

Gain on disposal of fixed assets 4 20,142 14,441

Gain/(loss) on disposal of investments 5 1 (23)

Interest receivable 8 78 104

Interest and finance costs 9/10 (17,858) (20,891)

Movement in fair value of investments 16 9 35

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 27 7,278 (762)

Surplus before taxation 11 64,560 47,752

Taxation 12 (56) 332

Surplus for the year 64,504 48,084

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments 27 1,346 (2,662)

Remeasurement of pension liability 30 301 (357)

Total comprehensive income for the year 66,151 45,065

All amounts relate to continuing activities. 
Movements in reserves are shown in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.  

Consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2018 2017

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Financial statements
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Notes 2018 2017

£000 £000

Turnover 3 124,298 120,922

Operating costs 3 (61,815) (60,928)

Cost of sales 3 (19,987) (15,990)

Gain on disposal of fixed assets (staircasings and redemptions) 3 12,459 10,943

Operating surplus 3 54,955 54,947

Gain on disposal of fixed assets 4 20,142 14,441

Interest receivable 8 84 103

Interest and finance costs 9/10 (17,870) (20,928)

Movement in fair value of investments 16 9 -

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 27 7,278 (762)

Surplus before taxation 11 64,598 47,801

Taxation 12 - -

Surplus for the year 64,598 47,801

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments 27 1,346 (2,662)

Remeasurement of pension liability 30 301 (357)

Total comprehensive income for the year 66,245 44,782

All amounts relate to continuing activities. 
Movements in reserves are shown in the statement of changes in equity.  

Association statement 
of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2018 2017

Association statement of comprehensive income
Financial statements
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Notes 2018 2017

£000 £000

Fixed assets

Housing properties 14 1,324,568 1,267,567

Investment properties 16 467 1,059

Other tangible fixed assets 17 13,060 12,883

Homebuy loans receivable 55,413 60,608

1,393,508 1,342,117

Current assets

Housing stock for sale 18 55,895 34,758

Debtors 19 22,831 20,060

Cash and cash equivalents 32,220 27,208

110,946 82,026

Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 20 (41,865) (27,436)

Net current assets 69,081 54,590

Total assets less current liabilities 1,462,589 1,396,707

Creditors - amounts falling due after more than one year 21 (1,011,791) (1,003,141)

Derivative financial instruments 27 (64,598) (73,222)

Provision for liabilities - pension provision 30 (1,384) (1,679)

Net assets 384,816 318,665

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 29 - -

Reserves - Revenue reserve 439,358 374,553

                 - Cash flow hedge reserve (54,542) (55,888)

Total reserves 384,816 318,665

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 26 July 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Consolidated statement 
of financial position
As at 31 March 2018

Steve White                                                                                                 
Chair                                                                                                                     

Gerard McCormack
Board Member

Greg Taylor
Secretary

2018 2017

Consolidated statement of financial position
Financial statements
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Notes 2018 2017

£000 £000

Fixed assets

Housing properties 14 1,324,129 1,267,121

Investment in subsidiaries 15 50 50

Investment properties 16 467 458

Other tangible fixed assets 17 13,060 12,883

Homebuy loans receivable 55,337 60,482

1,393,043 1,340,994

Current assets

Housing stock for sale 18 39,581 25,563

Debtors 19 25,328 19,707

Cash and cash equivalents 32,031 25,625

96,940 70,895

Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 20 (41,437) (29,289)

Net current assets 55,503 41,606

Total assets less current liabilities 1,448,546 1,382,600

Creditors - amounts falling due after more than one year 21 (1,011,683) (1,003,063)

Derivative financial instruments 27 (64,598) (73,222)

Provision for liabilities - pension provision 30 (1,384) (1,679)

Net assets 370,881 304,636

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 29 - -

Reserves - Revenue reserve 425,423 360,524

                 - Cash flow hedge reserve (54,542) (55,888)

Total reserves 370,881 304,636

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 26 July 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Association statement 
of financial position
As at 31 March 2018

Steve White                                                                                                 
Chair                                                                                                                     

Gerard McCormack
Board Member

Greg Taylor
Secretary

2018 2017

Association statement of financial position
Financial statements
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Revenue 
reserve

Cash flow 
hedge reserve

Total
reserves

Consolidated £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2016 326,826 (53,226) 273,600

Surplus for the year 48,084 - 48,084

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments - (2,662) (2,662)

Remeasurement of pension liability (357) - (357)

Balance at 1 April 2017 374,553 (55,888) 318,665

Surplus for the year 64,504 - 64,504

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments - 1,346 1,346

Remeasurement of pension liability 301 - 301

Balance at 31 March 2018 439,358 (54,542) 384,816

Revenue 
reserve

Cash flow 
hedge reserve

Total
reserves

Association £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2016 313,080 (53,226) 259,854

Surplus for the year 47,801 - 47,801

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments - (2,662) (2,662)

Remeasurement of pension liability (357) - (357)

Balance at 1 April 2017 360,524 (55,888) 304,636

Surplus for the year 64,598 - 64,598

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments - 1,346 1,346

Remeasurement of pension liability 301 - 301

Balance at 31 March 2018 425,423 (54,542) 370,881

Statement of
changes in equity
As at 31 March 2018

Statement of changes in equity
Financial statements
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2018 2017

£000 £000

Net cash generated from operating activities (note 32) 65,299 67,275

Cash flow from investing activities:

Purchase of housing properties (100,324) (74,281)

Purchase of other fixed assets (1,424) (1,248)

Purchase of current asset stock (31,534) (28,046)

Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets 58,472 49,249

Proceeds from sale of investments 602 1,543

Grants received 1,305 105

Homebuy loans repaid 775 1,622

Interest received 78 104

Net cash outflow from investing activities (72,050) (50,952)

Cash flow from financing activities:

Interest paid (20,284) (23,276)

Interest element of finance lease rental payment (48) (48)

Cash collateral returned 2,550 16,600

New secured loans - 50,000

Drawdown of revolving credit facility 30,096 -

Repayment of borrowings (875) (53,847)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 11,439 (10,571)

Taxation received/(paid) 324 (426)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 5,012 5,326

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 2017 27,208 21,882

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2018 32,220 27,208

Consolidated statement 
of cash flows
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2018 2017

Consolidated statement of cash flows
Financial statements
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1. Principal accounting policies 

Basis of preparation
MHL is a public benefit entity. The financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance 
with applicable United Kingdom accounting 
standards, including ‘Financial Reporting 
Standard 102 – The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom 
and Republic of Ireland’ (FRS 102), the 
Accounting Direction for Private Registered 
Providers of Social Housing from April 2015 
and the Statement of Recommended Practice 
for registered social housing providers 2014 
(SORP), published by the National Housing 
Federation. The financial statements have been 
prepared on the historic cost basis except for 
modification to a fair value basis for certain 
financial instruments and investment properties 
as specified in the accounting policies below.

The financial statements are presented  
in pounds Sterling (£000s).

Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements of MHL 
incorporate the financial statements of its 
subsidiaries - Moat Housing Group Limited, 
Moat Development Limited, Mariner Facilities 
Management Limited, Moat Foundation, Moat 
Homes Finance Plc and Moat Construction 
Services Limited.

Intercompany transactions and balances 
between group companies are eliminated in full.

Disclosure exemptions 
In preparing the group financial statements, 
advantage has been taken of the exemption  
not to disclose transactions, eliminated  
on consolidation, with wholly owned  
group undertakings. 

In preparing the separate financial statements 
of the parent company, advantage has been 
taken of the exemption available in FRS102 
not to present a statement of cash flows and 
related notes.

Going concern 
After reviewing the financial plan and the 
viability assessment and making enquiries, the 
Board has a reasonable expectation that the 
Group has adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. For this reason, the going concern basis 
continues to be used in the financial statements.

Housing properties
Housing properties are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Cost includes the cost of 
acquiring land and buildings, interest capitalised 
during the development period, directly 
attributable development and administration 
costs, and expenditure incurred in respect of 
improvements which modernise and extend the 
life of existing properties. 

Housing properties for rent are split between 
land, structure and major components with a 
substantially different economic life.

Shared ownership property costs are split 
between current and fixed assets on the basis of 
the first tranche portion. The first tranche portion 
is accounted for as a current asset. The fixed 
asset portion is split between land and structure 
as the rights and obligations towards improving 
the property reside with the shared owner. 

Housing properties in the course of construction 
are stated at cost and are not depreciated. They 
are transferred to completed properties when 
they are ready for letting or sale. 

Gains and losses on disposal of housing property 
fixed assets are determined by comparing the 
proceeds with the carrying amount and incidental 
costs of sale. Gains/losses on staircasings 
and redemptions are recognised in operating 
surplus. Gains on stock rationalisation disposals 
are shown within gain/loss on disposal of fixed 
assets below operating surplus. 

Housing properties - Depreciation
Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis 
over the expected economic useful lives of each 
component part of housing properties. Land is 
not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are 
as follows:

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed if there is an indication of a 

Structure

Kitchens

Bathrooms

Windows

Heating

Roofs

Doors

Electrical wiring

100 years

20 years

30 years

30 years

15 years

50 years

20 years

40 years

significant change since the last reporting date 
in the pattern by which the Group expects to 
consume an asset’s future economic benefits.

Non component works to existing properties
Expenditure incurred on existing housing 
properties is capitalised if it provides an 
incremental future benefit, including an increase 
in the rental income over the life of the property, 
a reduction in future maintenance costs or a 
significant extension of the life of the property. 
Other expenditure incurred on major repairs, 
cyclical and day-to-day repairs to housing 
properties is charged to operating expenditure 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income in the year in which it is incurred.

Interest capitalised
Interest on borrowings is capitalised to housing 
properties during the course of construction 
up to the date of completion of each scheme. 
The interest capitalised is either on borrowings 
specifically financing a scheme or on net 
borrowings to the extent that they are deemed 
to be financing a scheme. This treatment 
applies irrespective of the original purpose for 
which the loan was raised. Interest is capitalised 
at the weighted average effective interest rate 
on the Group’s borrowings.

Other tangible fixed assets
Other tangible fixed assets are stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation 
is charged on a straight line basis over the 
expected economic useful lives of the asset.  
No depreciation is provided on freehold land. 
The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Leases
Leases in which the Group assumes 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the leased asset are classified as 
finance leases. All other leases are classified 
as operating leases. Assets acquired by way 
of finance leases are capitalised as tangible 
fixed assets at their fair value (or, if lower, the 
present value of the minimum lease payments 
as determined at inception of the lease), and are 
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term 

Office buildings

Motor vehicles

Office equipment, fixtures and fittings

Computer equipment

Scheme furniture and equipment

50 years

3 years

5-10 years

3 years

3-40 years

Notes to the financial statements
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and useful life. The capital elements of future 
lease obligations are recorded as liabilities, while 
the interest elements are charged to interest in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income over the period of the leases to produce 
a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

Payments (excluding costs for servicing and 
insurance) made under operating leases are 
recognised in operating expenditure in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income on a straight line basis over the term 
of the lease unless the payments to the 
lessor are structured to increase in line with 
expected general inflation, when the payments 
are recognised as incurred. Lease incentives 
received are recognised over the term of  
the lease as an integral part of the total  
lease expense. 

Impairment of fixed assets (excluding 
investments)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s fixed 
assets (excluding investments) are reviewed 
at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated. The recoverable amount 
of an asset or cash-generating unit is the 
greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs to sell. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, assets are grouped into the smallest 
group of assets that generates cash flows from 
continuing use. 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying value exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount and is recognised 
in operating expenditure in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

An impairment loss is reversed if and only if the 
reasons for the impairment have ceased to apply.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods 
are assessed at each reporting date for 
indications that the loss has decreased or no 
longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation and amortisation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognised. 

Social Housing Grant (SHG) 
SHG is recognised as deferred grant income 
and released as turnover in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income over the 

life of the structure of housing properties in 
accordance with the accrual model. Grants 
relating to expenditure on tangible fixed assets 
are credited to turnover at the same rate as the 
depreciation on the assets to which the grant 
relates. The deferred element of the grants is 
included in creditors as deferred income.

On disposal of properties, all associated SHG is 
transferred to either the Recycled capital grant 
fund (RCGF) or Disposal proceeds fund (DPF) 
until the grant is recycled or repaid to reflect 
the existing obligation under the social housing 
grant funding regime.

Investments in Homebuy
Under the Homebuy scheme, the Group 
receives Homebuy grant representing a 
percentage of the open market purchase price 
of a property in order to advance loans to a 
homebuyer. The loans advanced by the Group 
meet the definition of concessionary loans and 
are shown as Fixed asset investments in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. The 
Homebuy grant provided by the government to 
fund all or part of a Homebuy loan is shown as 
deferred income in creditors due in more than 
one year.

In the event that the property is sold, the Group 
recovers the equivalent loaned percentage of 
the property at the time of the sale. The grant 
is reclassified to the recycled capital grant 
fund when the loans are redeemed up to the 
amount of the original grant and to the extent 
the proceeds permit. The Group retains any 
surplus proceeds less sale costs attributable to 
the equivalent loaned percentage share of the 
value of the property. If there is a fall in the value 
of the property the shortfall of proceeds is offset 
against the grant.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties which are 
held either to earn rental income or for capital 
appreciation or for both. Investment properties 
are not depreciated but are held at fair value. 
Changes in fair value are recognised in surplus 
for the year in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.  Rental income from 
these properties is taken to turnover.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are measured at 
cost less accumulated impairment.

Housing stock for sale
Completed properties and properties under 
construction for open market sales and the first 
tranche portion of shared ownership properties 
are recognised at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Net realisable value is based 
on estimated sales price after allowing for all 
further costs of completion and disposal. At 
each reporting date, the housing stock for sale is 
assessed for any adjustment. If a write down is 
necessary the carrying amount is reduced to its 
selling price less costs to complete and sell. The 
loss is immediately recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

On disposal, sales proceeds are included in 
turnover and the cost of sales, including costs 
incurred in the development of the properties, 
marketing and other incidental costs, are 
included in operating expenses.

Mixed tenure developments
Where a mixed tenure development includes 
shared ownership or open market sales, the 
costs incurred in acquiring and developing the 
land attributed to each element of the scheme 
reflect the different tenure types. 

Future repair funds
Charges which are made to leaseholders 
for future major repairs such as replacement 
windows and roofs and the replacement of 
equipment within their estates are ring fenced 
for use on their properties/estates only. Such 
funds are disclosed in the statement of financial 
position as creditors.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised 
when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are 
classified according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangements entered into. An 
equity instrument is any contract that evidences 
a residual interest in the assets of the Group 
after deducting all of its liabilities.

Basic financial instruments

Debtors and creditors
Debtors and creditors with no stated interest rate 
and are receivable or payable within one year are 
recorded at transaction price. Any losses arising 
from impairment are recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income in operating cost.

Notes to the financial statements
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Recoverable amount of rental and other 
trade receivables
The recoverable value of rental and other 
receivables is estimated and the debtor is 
impaired by appropriate amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings classified as 
basic financial instruments
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised 
initially at fair value less attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
balances and call deposits.

Other financial instruments (not considered 
to be basic financial instruments)

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses certain financial instruments to 
reduce exposure to interest rate movements. 
The Group does not hold or issue derivative 
financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value 
at the date a derivative contract is entered into 
and are subsequently re-measured to their fair 
value at each reporting date. The resulting gain 
or loss is recognised in the surplus for the year 
immediately unless the derivative is designated 
and effective as a hedging instrument, see below.

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as 
hedging instruments in cash flow hedges.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of 
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash 
flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive 
income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective 
portion is recognised immediately in the surplus for 
the year. Amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to surplus 
for the year when the hedged item is recognised 
in surplus for the year or when the hedging 
relationship ends.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets not carried at fair value are 
assessed for indicators of impairment at each 
reporting date. A financial asset is impaired if 
objective evidence indicates that a loss event 
has occurred after the initial recognition of the 

asset, and that the loss event had a negative 
effect on the estimated future cash flows of that 
asset that can be estimated reliably. Impairment 
losses are recognised in the surplus for the year.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, 
the amount of the impairment is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost less 
impairment, the impairment loss is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
best estimate of the amount that would be 
received for the asset if it were to be sold at the 
reporting date.

When a subsequent event causes the amount of 
the impairment loss to decrease, the decrease is 
reversed through the surplus for the year.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-
employment benefit plan under which the 
Group pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and will have no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations 
for contributions to defined contribution pension 
plans are shown as an operating expense in the 
surplus for the year during which services are 
rendered by employees. The Group participates 
in the Aviva defined contribution plan, closed to 
new members, and the Social Housing Pension 
Scheme (SHPS) defined contribution plan 
which is open to all new employees and current 
employees have the opportunity to switch into it.

Defined benefit plans
The Group participates in the multi-employer 
defined benefit Social Housing Pension Scheme 
(SHPS) operated by The Pensions Trust and 
is deemed to participate in the Growth Plan 
as an Additional Voluntary Contribution (AVC) 
Vehicle for members of the SHPS scheme. 
It is not possible to identify the share of the 
underlying assets and liabilities belonging to 
individual participating employers on a consistent 
and reasonable basis and therefore the Group 
accounts for the scheme as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme. As a result, the amount 
charged to operating expenditure in the surplus 
for the year represents the contributions payable 
to the scheme in respect of the accounting 
period. To the extent that payment plans relate to 

funding a deficit, the contributions are recognised 
as a liability payable arising from the agreement 
and results in a charge to operating expenditure. 
Where the payments are not expected to be 
settled within 12 months the liability is measured 
at the present value of the contributions paid. 
The scheme is closed to new employees.

The Group participates in the defined benefit 
Essex County Council and London Borough 
of Merton pension schemes which are closed 
to new employees. The amounts charged to 
operating surplus are the costs arising from 
the employee services rendered during the 
period and the cost of plan introductions, 
benefit changes, settlements and curtailments. 
They are included as part of staff costs. The 
net interest cost on the net defined benefit 
liability is charged to surplus for the year and 
included within finance costs. Re-measurement 
amounts of the pension liability are recognised 
in other comprehensive income. Defined 
benefit schemes are funded in separate 
trustee administered funds. Pension scheme 
assets are measured at fair value and liabilities 
are measured on an actuarial basis using 
the projected unit credit method. Actuarial 
valuations are obtained triennially and are 
updated at each reporting date.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised as an 
expense when the Group is demonstrably 
committed, without realistic possibility of 
withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to 
terminate employment. 

Provisions for liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of a past event that can be reliably 
measured and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation. Provisions are recognised as the best 
estimate of the amount required to settle the 
obligation at the reporting date.

Annual leave
A provision is made for annual leave accrued 
by employees which they are entitled to carry 
forward and use by 31 December. The provision 
is measured at the salary cost payable for the 
period of absence.

Notes to the financial statements
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Turnover
Turnover represents the following material income 
streams which are measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received or receivable:
• Rent and service charge income receivable 

(net of void losses), fees receivable, 
revenue grants from public authorities are 
all recognised on an accruals basis as they 
fall due.

• Proceeds from first tranche sales of low-
cost home ownership properties and from 
properties developed for open market  
sales are recognised on legal completion  
of the sale.

• Social Housing Grant (SHG) is amortised to 
turnover over the useful economic life of the 
property to which the grant relates.

Agency managed accommodation
Where the agency holds the support contract 
with the Supporting People Administering 
Authority and carries the financial risk, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income includes only that income and 
expenditure which relates solely to the Group 
such as rental income in turnover and repairs in 
operating costs.

Taxation
Current tax is the expected tax payable or 
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the 
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the statement of financial position 
date, and any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on timing differences 
which arise from the inclusion of income and 
expenses in tax assessments in periods different 
from those in which they are recognised in the 
financial statements.

VAT
Moat Homes Limited, Moat Housing Group 
Limited, Mariner Facilities Management Limited 
and Moat Homes Finance Plc are registered as 
a VAT group.  A large proportion of the Group’s 
income comprises rental income, which is 
exempt for VAT purposes and gives rise to a 
partial exemption calculation. Expenditure is 
therefore shown inclusive of VAT. Recoverable 
VAT arising from partially exempt activities 
is credited to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

Notes to the financial statements
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2. Critical accounting      
judgements and key sources  
of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Group’s accounting 
policies, described in note 1, the directors 
are required to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions about the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the year 
in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that year, or in the year of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.

Critical judgements 
In preparing these financial statements, the key 
judgements have been made in respect of the 
following:

Impairment
As explained in note 1, a review of the carrying 
value of housing properties is carried out 
annually to determine whether there are any 
indicators of impairment. Indicators considered 
included indicators in paragraph 27.9 of  
FRS 102 and paragraph 14.6 of Housing SORP 
2014. In the review, we have taken schemes 
to be cash-generating units as these represent 
groups of properties in the same lcoation where 
the same services are provided. If a different 
level of cash generating unit had been used 
(eg. individual properties within a particular 
scheme) the conclusion on impairment may 
have been different. Where there is evidence 
of impairment, fixed assets are written down 
to their recoverable amount. Impairment is 
assessed by comparing carrying value to the 
higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs 
to sell. If the carrying value is greater than the 
higher value in use and fair value less costs to 
sell, an impairment provision is made. Value-in-
use requires management estimates of timing of 
cash flows, discount rate and life of the asset. 
Management use estimates to determine fair 
value less costs to sell based on information 
available  regarding sales of similar properties 
and depreciated replacement cost 

• Rented properties
There were no general indicators of 
impairment on rented properties. For one 
rented scheme which completed during the 
year, the impairment of £814k which had 
been made while it was in construction has 
now been treated as a permanent impairment 
and moved to housing property cost. 

• Low cost home ownership properties
The need for an impairment review of the 
fixed asset portion of shared ownership 
properties is indicated if there have been 
losses on staircasings during the year or if 
there were losses made on the original first 
tranche sales on the scheme. There were 
no material losses on staircasings during 
the year to indicate the need for impairment. 
For historic schemes where first tranche 
sales resulted in a deficit there has been no 
material movement in market value and the 
impairment has remained at £207k. 

• Schemes in development/land banked 
All development schemes are assessed 
using an investment appraisal model, 
which is reviewed annually by the Finance 
Committee, to ensure the appropriateness 
of assumptions. During development 
the schemes are reviewed against the 
investment appraisal for any fluctuations 
in costs or anticipated sales values 
which adversely affected the net present 
value of the scheme, highlighting any 
schemes which needed to be assessed for 
impairment. No impairment of schemes in 
development was necessary. 

Land banked schemes where there is no 
current investment appraisal are reviewed to 
compare the carrying value to the estimated 
fair value if the land is sold. No new schemes 
required an impairment and there were no 
changes to existing impairment amounts.

• Asset management review
Where schemes have been identified for 
potential redevelopment or sale an options 
appraisal is carried out. An impairment of 
£742k to reduce the net book value to £nil 
has been made for one scheme, where 
44 homes have been decanted, as the 
anticipated costs of preparing the site for sale 
are higher than the estimated sales value.

Loan agreements with embedded fixes
£241.6m (2017: £211.6m) of the Group’s 
loan agreements contain clauses which entitle 
the lender to compensation in the event that, 
on cancellation or redemption of a loan, the 
underlying derivative positions would return a 
benefit to the lender. In preparing these financial 
statements, management has judged that 
the requirements of FRS 102 are unclear as 
to whether these arrangements result in the 
affected loans being classified as ‘basic’ or 
‘other’. On the basis of this lack of clarity and 
because it is not the intention of the Group to 
redeem or actively trade in these borrowings 
for speculative purposes, management 
considers that the criteria for classification as 
basic instruments are met. These amounts 
are therefore carried at amortised cost. 
Should management determine that the 
alternative judgement becomes appropriate 
or additional clarity be offered by FRS 102 in 
future that indicates that the instruments are 
‘other’ financial instruments, they would be 
required to be presented at their fair value in 
the financial statements with annual fair value 
movements reported through the statement 
of comprehensive income. The information to 
determine the financial impact of presenting 
these instruments at fair value is not available.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Estimated useful lives
Fixed assets are depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives. The components into 
which housing properties are split and their 
associated estimated lives are considered to be 
the appropriate level based on knowledge of the 
repairs and maintenance programme carried 
out. The actual lives of individual components 
can however vary based on factors such 
as product life, wear and tear, maintenance 
programmes and environmental factors.

Housing property cost allocation
In mixed tenure developments costs are 
allocated between different tenures on a 
floor area basis. The allocation of the cost of 
shared ownership properties between housing 
properties and housing stock for sale is based 
on the estimated first tranche sale portion. We 
predict the amount to be sold by reviewing 
historic sale portions, current economic 
conditions and location.
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Rent arrears
The value of arrears that will not be collected is 
estimated based on past experience of collection 
of different types of debt. The impact of changes 
in welfare reform including Universal Credit and 
benefit caps have been estimated based on 
data provided from pilot studies and the Group’s 
experience based on a small population.

Pensions
The liability for future pension payments 
depends on a number of complex judgements 
relating to the discount rate used, the expected 
rate of price inflation, the rate at which salaries 
and pensions are expected to increase and 
mortality rates. Qualified actuaries are engaged 
to provide expert advice in each of the pension 
schemes of which the Group is a member.

Interest rate swaps
Uncertainties in the valuation of interest 
rate swaps include future interest rates and 
counterparty credit risk. Moat uses a debt 
and derivative advisory company, regulated 
by the Financial Conduct Authority, to value 
its derivatives. The key assumptions used in 
the valuation are a discount rate of six months 
LIBOR and in order to calculate the effective/
ineffective values, the dollar offset method on a 
cumulative basis is used.

Housing stock for sale
Housing stock for sale is recognised at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value. In 
assessing net realisable value management 
considers publicly available information and 
internal forecasts on future sales activity.

Operating segments 
The provision of social housing is the principal 
activity. Segmental information is disclosed in 
note 3 where social housing lettings activity 
is split into different tenures and into other 
social housing activities such as sale of social 
housing and development administration. 
Housing property cost is split into different 
tenures and stages of construction in note  
14. The Board does not routinely receive any 
further segmental information.

Notes to the financial statements
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2018

Turnover Operating 
costs

Cost of 
sales

Gain on 
disposal of 

fixed assets

Operating 
surplus

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Social housing lettings 97,082 (55,621) - - 41,461

Other social housing activities

Contracted services 645 (603) - - 42

Development administration - (2,265) - - (2,265)

Regeneration project - (1,709) - - (1,709)

Impairment of scheme under construction/redevelopment - (742) - - (742)

Shared ownership property sales 25,063 - (19,987) - 5,076

Staircasing activity on low cost home ownership - - - 9,671 9,671

Redemption of equity loans - - - 2,805 2,805

Other 1,463 (783) - - 680

Non-social housing activities

Market renting lettings 64 - - - 64

Open market sale activity - (51) - - (51)

Other 9 (44) - - (35)

Charitable donations 17 (104) - - (87)

Total 124,343 (61,922) (19,987) 12,476 54,910

Turnover Operating 
costs

Cost of 
sales

Gain on 
disposal of 

fixed assets

Operating 
surplus

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Social housing lettings 95,706 (54,095) - - 41,611

Other social housing activities

Contracted services 620 (611) - - 9

Development administration - (2,690) - - (2,690)

Regeneration project - (912) - - (912)

Impairment of scheme under construction - (1,724) - - (1,724)

Shared ownership property sales 23,235 - (15,990) - 7,245

Staircasing activity on low cost home ownership - - - 8,143 8,143

Redemption of equity loans - - - 2,800 2,800

Other 1,337 (837) - - 500

Non-social housing activities

Market renting lettings 70 (43) - - 27

Open market sale activity 2 (47) - - (45)

Other - (42) - - (42)

Charitable donations - (74) - - (74)

Total 120,970 (61,075) (15,990) 10,943 54,848

3. Particulars of turnover, operating costs, cost of sales  
    and operating surplus - Group

2018

2017
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Income and expenditure from social housing lettings

2018 2017

General 
needs

Low cost 
home 

ownership

Housing for 
older people 
/ supported 

housing

Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Turnover from social housing lettings

Rents receivable 57,753 16,840 7,537 82,130 81,618

Service charge income 3,932 4,192 1,735 9,859 8,935

Net rental income 61,685 21,032 9,272 91,989 90,553

Amortisation of Social Housing Grant 3,669 976 448 5,093 5,153

Total turnover from social housing lettings 65,354 22,008 9,720 97,082 95,706

Operating costs of social housing lettings

Management (9,128) (4,158) (2,289) (15,575) (15,508)

Service charge costs (3,392) (4,118) (1,884) (9,394) (9,357)

Routine maintenance (7,761) - (1,308) (9,069) (8,840)

Planned maintenance (3,012) - (589) (3,601) (3,631)

Major repairs (5,793) - (950) (6,743) (3,571)

Capitalised major repairs 3,644 - 604 4,248 1,770

Rent losses from bad debts (160) (17) (53) (230) (400)

Depreciation of housing properties (11,561) (2,190) (1,506) (15,257) (14,683)

Impairment of housing properties - - - - 125

Total operating costs of social housing lettings (37,163) (10,483) (7,975) (55,621) (54,095)

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 28,191 11,525 1,745 41,461 41,611

Void losses (773) - (128) (901) (864)

3. Particulars of turnover, operating costs, cost of sales  
    and operating surplus - Group (continued)

2018 2017

Notes to the financial statements
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2018

Turnover Operating 
costs

Cost of 
sales

Gain on 
disposal of 

fixed assets

Operating 
surplus

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Social housing lettings 97,063 (55,612) - - 41,451

Other social housing activities

Contracted services 645 (603) - - 42

Development administration - (2,265) - - (2,265)

Regeneration project - (1,709) - - (1,709)

Impairment of scheme under construction/redevelopment - (742) - - (742)

Shared ownership property sales 25,063 - (19,987) - 5,076

Staircasing activity on low cost home ownership - - - 9,671 9,671

Redemption of equity loans - - - 2,788 2,788

Other 1,463 (783) - - 680

Non-social housing activities

Market renting lettings 64 (2) - - 62

Charitable donations - (99) - - (99)

Total 124,298 (61,815) (19,987) 12,459 54,955

Turnover Operating 
costs

Cost of 
sales

Gain on 
disposal of 

fixed assets

Operating 
surplus

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Social housing lettings 95,682 (54,086) - - 41,596

Other social housing activities

Contracted services 620 (611) - - 9

Development administration - (2,690) - - (2,690)

Regeneration project - (912) - - (912)

Impairment of scheme under construction - (1,724) - - (1,724)

Shared ownership property sales 23,235 - (15,990) - 7,245

Staircasing activity on low cost home ownership - - - 8,143 8,143

Redemption of equity loans - - - 2,800 2,800

Other 1,337 (846) - - 491

Non-social housing activities

Market renting lettings 48 (9) - - 39

Charitable donations - (50) - - (50)

Total 120,922 (60,928) (15,990) 10,943 54,947

3. Particulars of turnover, operating costs, cost of sales  
    and operating surplus - Association

2018

2017
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Income and expenditure from social housing lettings

2018 2017

General 
needs

Low cost 
home 

ownership

Housing for 
older people 
/supported 

housing

Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Turnover from social housing lettings

Rents receivable 57,735 16,840 7,537 82,112 81,600

Service charge income 3,932 4,192 1,735 9,859 8,931

Net rental income 61,667 21,032 9,272 91,971 90,531

Amortisation of Social Housing Grant 3,668 976 448 5,092 5,151

Total turnover from social housing lettings 65,335 22,008 9,720 97,063 95,682

Operating costs of social housing lettings

Management (9,127) (4,158) (2,289) (15,574) (15,508)

Service charge costs (3,391) (4,118) (1,884) (9,393) (9,357)

Routine maintenance (7,760) - (1,308) (9,068) (8,838)

Planned maintenance (3,012) - (589) (3,601) (3,631)

Major repairs (5,793) - (950) (6,743) (3,571)

Capitalised major repairs 3,644 - 604 4,248 1,770

Rent losses from bad debts (160) (17) (53) (230) (400)

Depreciation of housing properties (11,555) (2,190) (1,506) (15,251) (14,676)

Impairment of housing properties - - - - 125

Total operating costs of social housing lettings (37,154) (10,483) (7,975) (55,612) (54,086)

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 28,181 11,525 1,745 41,451 41,596

Void losses (773) - (128) (901) (864)

3. Particulars of turnover, operating costs, cost of sales  
    and operating surplus - Association (continued)

2018 2017
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4. Gain on disposal of fixed assets - Group and Association

2018

Disposals Other fixed 
assets

Total

£000 £000 £000

Proceeds of sale 32,407 - 32,407

Less:

Attributable book value (11,564) (1) (11,565)

Incidental selling costs (700) - (700)

20,143 (1) 20,142

2017 14,609 (168) 14,441

2018

5. Gain/(loss) on disposal of investments - Group

2018

Investment 
property

£000

Proceeds of sale 615

Less:

Attributable fair value (601)

Incidental selling costs (13)

1

2017 (23)

Notes to the financial statements
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6. Board members and Executive team

The key management personnel are defined as members of the Executive Team, listed on page 31. The total emoluments, including  
pension contribution, received by Executive Team members were £798,083 (2017: £810,638) in the year. 

The emoluments of the Chief Executive, who was also the highest paid director, in the year were as follows:

£000 £000

Emoluments, excluding pension contributions 246 227

Pension contributions - in respect of services as director - -

246 227

The Chief Executive is an ordinary member of the SHPS defined contribution scheme who is not currently contributing to the scheme.

Non-executive board members received £72,828 (2017: £77,542) as fees for their services to the group and also received £4,815 
as expenses during the year (2017: £4,801). They were paid on a pro-rata basis:

Remuneration per annum

2018 2017

£ £

MHL chair 18,000 18,000

Senior independent director 11,000 11,000

Board member 10,000 10,000

Details of Board and Committee members can be found on pages 31 and 32.

2018 2017

2018 2017

Notes to the financial statements
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7. Employee information - Group

The average number of employees (including the Executive Team) expressed as full time equivalents  
(calculated based on a standard working week of 35 hours) during the year was as follows:

Number Number

Housing 188 198

Management 90 80

New business and sales 59 59

337 337

Staff costs (including the Executive team) consist of:

2018 2017

£000 £000

Wages and salaries 12,349 12,056

Social security costs 1,289 1,189

Other pension costs 850 1,165

14,488 14,410

34 (2017: 33) employees, including the Executive Team, earned over £60,000 in remuneration in the following bands:

2018 2017

No of employees No of employees

£60,000 - £69,999 12 14

£70,000 - £79,999 3 2

£80,000 - £89,999 7 5

£90,000 - £99,999 4 5

£100,000 - £109,999 2 2

£110,000 - £119,999 - 1

£120,000 -£129,999 2 -

£130,000 - £139,999 - 1

£150,000 - £159,999 1 -

£170,000 - £179,999 1 2

£180,000 - £189,999 1 -

£220,000 - £229,999 - 1

£240,000 - £249,999 1 -

Remuneration includes salary, allowances, pension contributions, bonuses and compensation for loss of office.

2018 2017

2018 2017

2018 2017
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8. Interest receivable
Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Interest receivable 78 104 84 103

9. Interest and finance costs
Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

On bank loans, overdrafts and other loans 20,860 22,988 20,865 23,025

Interest on finance leases 48 48 48 48

Notional interest on RCGF balances 266 188 266 188

Less: interest capitalised (3,449) (2,530) (3,442) (2,530)

17,725 20,694 17,737 20,731

Interest payable by the Group and Association includes loan indexation of £98,095 (2017: £82,113). 

The average rate of interest used for capitalisation was 4.15% (2017: 4.67%).

10. Other finance costs
Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Pension finance costs

Merton and Essex pension schemes 42 46 42 46

SHPS pension scheme 90 150 90 150

SHPS Growth Plan pension scheme 1 1 1 1

133 197 133 197

2018 2017

2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017

2018 2017 2018 2017
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11. Surplus before taxation
Group Association

2017 2016 2017 2016

Surplus before tax is stated after charging: £000 £000 £000 £000

Depreciation of housing properties

    Charge for the year (14,840) (14,510) (14,834) (14,504)

    Accelerated depreciation on replaced components (417) (173) (417) (172)

Note 3 (15,257) (14,683) (15,251) (14,676)

Depreciation of other fixed assets (1,106) (1,126) (1,106) (1,126)

Impairment of scheme in construction/redevelopment (742) (1,724) (742) (1,724)

Impairment of housing properties - 125 - 125

Amortisation of government grant 5,093 5,153 5,092 5,151

Operating lease rentals (121) (124) (121) (124)

Auditor’s remuneration:

Audit of financial statements (81) (81) (52) (52)

Audit related assurance advice (2) - (2) -

12. Taxation
2018 2017

Group £000 £000

Current tax:

UK corporation tax 21 -

Adjustment in respect of prior year 35 (332)

Total current tax 56 (332)

2018 2017

£000 £000

Surplus before tax 64,560 47,752

Current tax at 19% (2017: 20%) 12,266 9,550

Effects of:

Surpluses subject to charitable exemption (12,271) (9,560)

Timing differences 26 -

Adjustment in respect of prior year 35 (332)

Loss carried forward - 10

Total current tax charge/(credit) 56 (332)

2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017

2018 2017
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12. Taxation - continued

2018 2017

Association £000 £000

Current tax:

UK corporation tax - -

2018 2017

£000 £000

Surplus before tax 64,598 47,801

Current tax at 19% (2017: 20%) 12,274 9,560

Effects of:

Surpluses subject to charitable exemption (12,274) (9,560)

Total current tax credit - -

2018 2017

2018 2017
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13. Number of homes in management

The number of homes in Moat’s management at the year end was:

Group Association

At 31 March 
2018

At 31 March 
2017

At 31 March 
2018

At 31 March 
2017

Social housing

General needs 8,519 8,781 8,516 8,778

Affordable rent 1,591 1,458 1,591 1,458

Housing for older people 1,519 1,519 1,519 1,519

Supported housing 245 229 245 229

Shared ownership 4,989 4,808 4,989 4,808

Leasehold properties 1,062 1,050 1,062 1,050

Staff housing 2 2 2 2

Other 7 7 7 7

17,934 17,854 17,931 17,851

Equity loan properties 1,473 1,622 1,473 1,617

Total social housing 19,407 19,476 19,404 19,468

Non-social housing

Open market rented properties 4 6 4 4

Leasehold properties 15 15 - -

Firstbuy loans 3 - - -

Freehold properties 953 940 953 940

Garages 595 595 595 595

Care homes 44 57 44 57

Commercial 19 18 19 18

Total non-social housing 1,633 1,631 1,615 1,614

Total 21,040 21,107 21,019 21,082

A further 889 homes were under development at 31 March 2018 (2017: 673).

Notes to the financial statements
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14. Tangible fixed assets - housing properties - Group

Rented properties Shared ownership 

Completed Under 
construction

Completed Under 
construction

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost

At 1 April 2017 1,015,494 28,909 320,996 45,380 1,410,779

Additions 13,134 21,843 103 64,023 99,103

Schemes completed 26,218 (26,218) 43,652 (43,652) -

Change in tenure (1,630) - 1,630 - -

Disposals (21,671) - (10,452) - (32,123)

At 31 March 2018 1,031,545 24,534 355,929 65,751 1,477,759

Depreciation

At 1 April 2017 (121,381) - (18,076) - (139,457)

Charge in year (12,651) - (2,189) - (14,840)

Change in tenure 140 - (140) - -

Released on disposal 4,109 - 680 - 4,789

At 31 March 2018 (129,783) - (19,725) - (149,508)

Impairment

At 1 April 2017 (983) (2,918) 146 - (3,755)

Reclassification 353 - (353) - -

Charge in year (742) - - - (742)

Permanent transfer to cost - 814 - - 814

At 31 March 2018 (1,372) (2,104) (207) - (3,683)

Net Book Value - 2018 900,390 22,430 335,997 65,751 1,324,568

Net Book Value - 2017 893,130 25,991 303,066 45,380 1,267,567

Included within additions in cost of properties is £3,449k (2017: £2,530k) for interest capitalised during the year and £11,801k (2017: £2,410k) 
of replacement of components.

Rented Shared ownership

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2018
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14. Tangible fixed assets - housing properties - Association

Rented properties Shared ownership 

Completed Under 
construction

Completed Under 
construction

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost

At 1 April 2017 1,015,021 28,909 320,996 45,380 1,410,306

Additions 13,134 21,843 103 64,023 99,103

Schemes completed 26,218 (26,218) 43,652 (43,652) -

Change in tenure (1,630) - 1,630 - -

Disposals (21,671) - (10,452) - (32,123)

At 31 March 2018 1,031,072 24,534 355,929 65,751 1,477,286

Depreciation

At 1 April 2017 (121,353) - (18,077) - (139,430)

Charge in year (12,645) - (2,189) - (14,834)

Change in tenure 140 - (140) - -

Released on disposal 4,109 - 681 - 4,790

At 31 March 2018 (129,749) - (19,725) - (149,474)

Impairment

At 1 April 2017 (983) (2,918) 146 - (3,755)

Reclassification 353 - (353) - -

Charge in year (742) - - - (742)

Permanent transfer to cost - 814 - - 814

At 31 March 2018 (1,372) (2,104) (207) - (3,683)

Net Book Value - 2018 899,951 22,430 335,997 65,751 1,324,129

Net Book Value - 2017 892,685 25,991 303,065 45,380 1,267,121

Included within additions in cost of properties is £3,442k (2017: £2,530k) for interest capitalised during the year, and £11,801k (2017: £2,410k) 
of replacement of components.

Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017
£000 £000 £000 £000

Housing properties at cost comprise:

Freeholds 1,336,280 1,327,839 1,335,807 1,327,366

Long leaseholds 140,429 81,890 140,429 81,890

Short leaseholds 1,050 1,050 1,050 1,050

1,477,759 1,410,779 1,477,286 1,410,306

2018 2017 2018 2017

Rented Shared ownership
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15. Investment in subsidiaries - Association

Description Country of 
incorporation

% of 
ordinary 

shares held

Holding 
company

Investment
£

Moat Housing Group Ltd Non Charitable RP England 100% MHL 1

Moat Homes Finance Plc Finance Company England 100% MHL 50,000

Moat Foundation Charity England 100% MHL -

Moat Construction Services Ltd Dormant England 100% MHL 1

Moat Development Ltd Dormant England 100% MHG 1

Mariner Facilities Management Ltd Managing Agent England 100% MHG 100

50,103

MHL has paid £12,500 of the allotted share capital in MHF (2017: £12,500).

16. Investment properties

Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Investment properties at 1 April 1,059 2,585 458 458

Additions - 5 - -

Disposals (601) (1,566) - -

Movement in fair value 9 35 9 -

Investment properties at 31 March 467 1,059 467 458

Investment properties are held at fair value. These are commerical properties which were revalued by external chartered surveyors, 
Residentially, at 31 March 2018.

2018 2017 2018 2017
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17. Other tangible fixed assets - Group and Association

Freehold land  
and buildings Other Total

£000 £000 £000

Cost

At 1 April 2017 11,481 11,294 22,775

Additions - 1,284 1,284

Disposals - (519) (519)

At 31 March 2018 11,481 12,059 23,540

Depreciation

At 1 April 2017 (2,481) (7,411) (9,892)

Charge for the year (240) (866) (1,106)

Disposals - 518 518

At 31 March 2018 (2,721) (7,759) (10,480)

Net book value - 2018 8,760 4,300 13,060

Net book value - 2017 9,000 3,883 12,883

Included within the net book value of Other is an amount of £767k (2017: £845k) in respect of assets held under a finance lease.  
These are classed as finance leases as the rental period amounts to the estimated useful life of the asset concerned and the  
assets are either transferred to Moat at the end of the period or sold to Moat for a nominal value.

18. Housing stock for sale

Housing stock for sale is the cost of open market sales schemes and the cost attributed to the first tranche element of shared  
ownership schemes. The cost of shared ownership schemes is split between current and fixed assets based on the expected  
percentage of first tranche sales which is currently in the region of 30%.

Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

  £000 £000 £000 £000

Completed schemes

First tranche sale 8,933 3,902 8,933 3,902

Under construction

First tranche sale 30,648 21,661 30,648 21,661

Open market sale 16,314 9,195 - -

55,895 34,758 39,581 25,563

2018 2017 2018 2017
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19. Debtors

Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Due within one year

Arrears of rent and service charges 4,593 5,376 4,592 5,355

Provision for bad and doubtful debts (2,519) (2,878) (2,519) (2,858)

2,074 2,498 2,073 2,497

Amounts due from Group entities - - 2,564 49

Prepayments and accrued income 13,616 7,124 13,616 7,122

Cash collateral given 3,660 6,210 3,660 6,210

Corporation tax refund - 329 - -

Other debtors 2,705 3,153 2,705 3,119

22,055 19,314 24,618 18,997

Due after one year

Other debtors 776 746 710 710

22,831 20,060 25,328 19,707

20. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Bank overdraft 2 532 2 532

Housing loans (note 21) 11,103 974 11,103 974

Trade creditors 1,291 672 1,291 672

Owed to other Group entities - - 257 185

Owed to other Group entities - loan - - - 2,010

Recycled capital grant fund (note 23) 4,305 3,891 4,305 3,891

Disposal proceeds fund (note 24) 178 - 178 -

Finance lease liabilities (note 21) 162 142 162 142

Other creditors 8,059 6,479 7,807 6,256

Accruals and deferred income 16,765 14,746 16,332 14,627

41,865 27,436 41,437 29,289

 
The Regulator of Social Housing has confirmed that £22,641k of RCGF and £250k of DPF three years or older will not be repayable in 
2018/2019.

2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017 2018 2017
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21. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Housing loans 294,926 275,833 294,926 275,833

Bond issue 150,000 150,000 - -

Government grant - housing properties 451,212 459,320 451,072 459,179

Homebuy grant 47,639 52,059 47,639 52,059

Owed to other Group entities - - 151,609 151,649

Recycled capital grant fund (note 23) 56,864 53,544 56,864 53,544

Disposal proceeds fund (note 24) 834 1,157 834 1,157

Service charge creditor 2,718 2,548 2,708 2,541

Finance lease liabilities 533 685 533 685

Other creditors 7,065 7,995 5,498 6,416

1,011,791 1,003,141 1,011,683 1,003,063

Housing loans and Bond issue

Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Within one year (note 20) 11,103 974 11,103 974

Between one and two years 7,603 17,525 7,603 17,525

Between two and five years 29,617 22,426 29,617 22,426

In more than five years:

Repayable by instalments 259,351 237,526 259,351 237,526

Repayable other than by instalments 150,000 150,000 - -

Issue costs (1,645) (1,644) (1,645) (1,644)

444,926 425,833 294,926 275,833

Total housing loans 456,029 426,807 306,029 276,807

2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017 2018 2017
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21. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

The Finance for Residential Social Housing Plc 3,791 3,859 3,791 3,859

HALOS Limited 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

The Housing Finance Corporation Index Linked 2,283 2,992 2,283 2,992

Banks and building societies 241,600 211,600 241,600 211,600

Affordable Housing Finance Plc 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

Moat Homes Finance Plc Bond 150,000 150,000 - -

Issue costs (1,645) (1,644) (1,645) (1,644)

456,029 426,807 306,029 276,807

All of the above are secured by fixed charges on the Group’s housing assets and are repayable at variable and fixed  
rates of interest in the range of 0.77% to 12.84% (2017: 0.51% to 12.84%) per annum.

Finance leases Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Within one year (note 20) 162 142 162 142

Between one and five years 418 517 418 517

In more than five years 115 168 115 168

695 827 695 827

Government grant Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Social Housing Grant (SHG) and other government grant
516,350 520,830 516,203 520,683

Cumulative amortisation (65,138) (61,510) (65,131) (61,504)

451,212 459,320 451,072 459,179

2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017 2018 2017
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22. Total government grant assistance

Total government grant assistance received or receivable  
to date is as follows:

Group Association

£000 £000 £000 £000

SHG on housing properties 516,350 520,830 516,203 520,683

Homebuy and starter home initiative 47,639 52,059 47,639 52,059

Recycled capital grant fund 61,169 57,435 61,169 57,435

Disposal proceeds fund 1,012 1,157 1,012 1,157

Add: cumulative amount credited to 
statement of comprehensive income 13,307 13,307 11,588 11,588

639,477 644,788 637,611 642,922

23. Recycled capital grant fund - Group and Association

Homes
England

GLA Homes 
England

GLA

£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 47,399 10,036 42,115 9,482

Inputs to fund: Grants recycled 6,633 1,090 7,587 1,099

                         Interest accrued 216 45 152 33

54,248 11,171 49,854 10,614

Withdrawals from fund: New build (3,067) (1,183) (2,418) (528)

                                        Repaid - - - (50)

                                        Flexible tenure - - (37) -

At 31 March 51,181 9,988 47,399 10,036

Amounts three years or older where repayment may be required 22,641 4,305 18,256 3,891

24. Disposal proceeds fund - Group and Association

Homes
England

GLA Homes
England

GLA

£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 956 201 903 200

Inputs to fund: Right to Acquire/Social Homebuy sales - - 50 -

                         Interest accrued 4 1 3 1

960 202 956 201

Withdrawals from fund:

New build - (150) - -

At 31 March 960 52 956 201

Amounts three years or older where repayment may be required 426 3 250 150

2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017

2018 2017
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25. Other financial commitments - Group and Association

At 31 March 2018 Moat there are future commitments under 
non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

Land and building 
lease commitments Other lease commitments

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Operating leases which expire:

Within one year 88 58 14 12

Between one and five years 88 - 19 31

In more than five years - - - -

176 58 33 43

26. Capital commitments

Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in 
the financial statements 211,665 213,709 187,928 181,697

Capital expenditure authorised but not yet contracted for
118,877 32,247 90,358 32,247

Capital commitments will be funded from existing and new facilities, cash from operating activities and first tranche/open market sale 
proceeds.

27. Financial instruments

The carrying values of the Group’s and Association’s financial  
assets and liabilities are summarised below:

Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

Financial assets £000 £000 £000 £000

Measured at undiscounted amount receivable:

Trade and other debtors and cash collateral given (note 19) 9,215 12,936 11,712 12,585

Cash and cash equivalents 32,220 27,208 32,031 25,625

41,435 40,144 43,743 38,210

2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017 2018 2017
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27. Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities

Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Measured at fair value and designated as an effective hedge:

Derivative financial liabilities (note 28) 54,542 55,888 54,542 55,888

Measured at fair value through the surplus for the year:

Cancellable interest rate swaps 9,997 17,069 9,997 17,069

Ineffective interest rate swaps 59 265 59 265

64,598 73,222 64,598 73,222

Measured at amortised cost:

Loans payable (notes 20, 21) 306,029 276,807 306,029 276,807

Bond payable (note 21) 150,000 150,000 - -

Obligations under finance leases (notes 20, 21) 695 827 695 827

Intercompany loans payable (notes 20, 21) - - 151,609 153,659

Measured at undiscounted amount payable:

Trade and other creditors (notes 20, 21) 35,900 32,972 33,894 31,229

557,222 533,828 556,825 535,744

Cancellable and ineffective interest rate swaps are valued at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on  
the applicable yield curves derived from quoted interest rates. Assumptions used in the valuation are a discount rate of six months LIBOR  
and the dollar offset method on a cumulative basis for calculating effective/ineffective values.

Loans payable include £241.6m (2017: £211.6m) of loans with embedded fixes. These have been measured at amortised cost.

The Group’s income, expense, gains and losses in respect of  
financial instruments are:

Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Interest income and expense

Total interest income for financial assets at amortised cost 78 104 84 103

Total interest expense for financial liabilities at amortised cost (20,908) (23,036) (20,913) (23,073)

Fair value gains and losses

On derivative financial liabilities designated as an effective hedge 1,346 (2,662) 1,346 (2,662)

On financial liabilities measured at fair value through surplus for the year 7,278 (762) 7,278 (762)

(12,206) (26,356) (12,205) (26,394)

2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017 2018 2017
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28. Hedging financial instruments - Group and Association

Due within one year Due after one year

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

On derivative financial liabilities designated  
as an effective hedge:

Interest rate swaps - - 54,542 55,888

Interest rate swaps are valued at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on the applicable yield curves 
derived from quoted interest rates. Assumptions used in the valuation are a discount rate of six months LIBOR and the dollar offset  
method on a cumulative basis for calculating effective/ineffective values.

Cash flow hedges
The following table details the notional principal amounts and the remaining terms of interest rate swap contracts designated as cash  
flow hedges outstanding as at the reporting date:

Average contract fixed 
interest rate

Notional principal value Fair value

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

% % £000 £000 £000 £000

More than five years 4.84 4.87 123,000 113,000 54,542 55,888

The interest rate swaps settle on a quarterly basis. The floating rate on the interest rate swaps is three months LIBOR. The Group 
settles the difference between the fixed and floating interest rate on a net basis.

All interest rate swap contracts, except cancellable swaps which are measured at fair value through the surplus and deficit, exchanging 
floating rate interest amounts are designated as cash flow hedges. All interest rate swaps reduce the Group’s cash flow exposure 
resulting from variable interest rates on borrowings. The hedged cash flows are expected to occur and to affect surplus and deficit  
over the period to maturity of the interest rate swaps. £48,000k of the cash flow swaps mature in 2029 and the remaining £75,000k 
matures in 2038.

Association

£ £

Allotted, issued and fully paid £1 shares

At 1 April 13 13

Cancelled during the year (2) (4)

Issued during the year 1 4

As at 31 March 12 13

Each of Moat’s non-executive members holds one share of £1 in the Association. The shares confer the right to vote at general 
meetings and are irredeemable, being cancelled on cessation of membership. They do not confer a right to dividends or a 
provision for distribution on a winding-up.

29. Called-up share capital

2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017

Notes to the financial statements
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From 1 April 2016 to  
30 September 2025

£12,945,440 per annum
(payable monthly and 
increasing by 3.0% each year  
on 1 April)

From 1 April 2016 to  
30 September 2028

£54,560 per annum
(payable monthly and 
increasing by 3.0% each year  
on 1 April)

30. Pension obligations

Tier 1    
From 1 April 2016 to  
30 September 2020

£40.6m per annum
(payable monthly and 
increasing by 4.7% each year 
on 1 April)

Tier 2    
From 1 April 2016 to  
30 September 2023

£28.6m per annum
(payable monthly and 
increasing by 4.7% each year 
on 1 April)

Tier 3    
From 1 April 2016 to  
30 September 2026

£32.7m per annum
(payable monthly and 
increasing by 3.0% each year 
on 1 April)

Tier 4    
From 1 April 2016 to  
30 September 2026

£31.7m per annum
(payable monthly and 
increasing by 3.0% each year 
on 1 April)

Note that the scheme’s previous valuation was carried out with an 
effective date of 30 September 2011; this valuation was certified on 17 
December 2012 and showed assets of £2,062m, liabilities of £3,097m 
and a deficit of £1,035m. To eliminate this funding shortfall, payments 
consisted of the Tier 1, 2 and 3 deficit contributions.

As the scheme is in deficit and MHL has agreed to a deficit funding 
arrangement, MHL recognises a liability for this obligation. The amount 

Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS)
MHL participates in the scheme, a multi-employer scheme which provides 
benefits to some 500 non-associated employers. The scheme is a defined 
benefit scheme in the UK. It is not possible for MHL to obtain sufficient 
information to enable it to account for the scheme as a defined benefit 
scheme. Therefore it accounts for the scheme as a defined contribution 
scheme. MHL has closed the scheme to new employees.

The scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions 
Act 2004 which came into force on 30 December 2005. This, together 
with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and Technical Actuarial 
Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the framework 
for funding defined benefit occupational pension schemes in the UK.

The scheme is classified as a ‘last man standing’ arrangement. Therefore 
MHL is potentially liable for other participating employers’ obligations 
if those employers are unable to meet their share of the scheme deficit 
following withdrawal from the scheme. Participating employers are legally 
required to meet their share of the scheme deficit on an annuity purchase 
basis on withdrawal from the scheme.

A full actuarial valuation for the scheme was carried out with an effective 
date of 30 September 2014. This actuarial valuation was certified on 23 
November 2015 and showed assets of £3,123m, liabilities of £4,446m 
and a deficit of £1,323m. To eliminate this funding shortfall, the trustees 
and the participating employers have agreed that additional contributions 
will be paid, in combination from all employers, to the scheme as follows: 

Deficit contributions

recognised is the net present value of the deficit reduction contributions 
payable under the agreement that relates to the deficit. The present 
value is calculated using the discount rate detailed in these disclosures. 
The unwinding of the discount rate is recognised as a finance cost. 

The Growth Plan
MHL participates in the scheme, a multi-employer scheme which 
provides benefits to some 1,300 non-associated participating employers. 
The scheme is a defined benefit scheme in the UK. It is not possible 
for MHL to obtain sufficient information to enable it to account for the 
scheme as a defined benefit scheme. Therefore it accounts for the 
scheme as a defined contribution scheme. MHL has closed the scheme 
to new employees.

The scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions 
Act 2004 which came into force on 30 December 2005. This, together 
with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and Technical 
Actuarial Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out 
the framework for funding defined benefit occupational pension schemes 
in the UK.

The scheme is classified as a ‘last man standing’ arrangement. Therefore 
MHL is potentially liable for other participating employers’ obligations 
if those employers are unable to meet their share of the scheme deficit 
following withdrawal from the scheme. Participating employers are legally 
required to meet their share of the scheme deficit on an annuity purchase 
basis on withdrawal from the scheme.

A full actuarial valuation for the scheme was carried out at 30 September 
2011. This valuation showed assets of £780m, liabilities of £928m and a 
deficit of £148m. 

A full actuarial valuation for the scheme was carried out at 30 September 
2014. This valuation showed assets of £793m, liabilities of £970m and a 
deficit of £177m. To eliminate this funding shortfall, the trustee has asked 
the participating employers to pay additional contributions to the scheme 
as follows: 

Deficit contributions

The recovery plan contributions are allocated to each participating 
employer in line with their estimated share of the Series 1 and Series 2 
scheme liabilities.

As the scheme is in deficit and MHL has agreed to a deficit funding 
arrangement, MHL recognises a liability for this obligation. The amount 
recognised is the net present value of the deficit reduction contributions 
payable under the agreement that relates to the deficit. The present 
value is calculated using the discount rate detailed in these disclosures. 
The unwinding of the discount rate is recognised as a finance cost.

Notes to the financial statements
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30. Pension obligations (continued)

The Growth plan SHPS

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Present value of provision 56 63 6,357 7,235

The Growth plan SHPS

2018 2017 2018 2017

Reconciliation of opening and closing provisions: £000 £000 £000 £000

Provision at start of year 63 67 7,235 7,707

Unwinding of the discount factor (interest expense) 1 1 90 150

Deficit contribution paid (7) (7) (873) (843)

Remeasurements:

Impact of any change in assumptions (1) 2 (95) 221

Provision at end of year 56 63 6,357 7,235

The Growth plan SHPS

2018 2017 2018 2017

Amounts recognised in the surplus are as follows: £000 £000 £000 £000

Interest expense 1 1 90 150

Remeasurements:

Impact of any change in assumptions (1) 2 (95) 221

Contributions paid in respect of future service - - 43 52

Costs recognised in surplus - 3 38 423

The Growth plan SHPS

2018 2017 2018 2017

Assumptions:
% per

 annum
% per

 annum
% per

 annum
% per

 annum

Rate of discount 1.71 1.32 1.72 1.33

2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017 2018 2017

The discount rates shown above are the equivalent single discount rates which, when used to discount the future recovery plan 
contributions due, would give the same results as using a full AA corporate bond yield curve to discount the same recovery 
plan contributions.

Notes to the financial statements
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Essex 
Pension Fund

Essex 
Pension Fund

Merton 
Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund 

The assumed life expectations from age 65 are: Years Years Years Years

Retiring today: Males 22.2 22.1 24.5 24.4

                         Females 24.7 24.6 26.1 26.0

Retiring in 20 years: Males 24.4 24.3 26.8 26.6

                                  Females 27.0 26.9 28.4 28.3

The financial assumptions, set with reference to market conditions at 31 March 2018, used to calculate the results are as follows:

Essex 
Pension Fund

Essex 
Pension Fund

Merton 
Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund 

Assumptions as at 31 March: % pa % pa % pa % pa

RPI increases 2.4% 3.6% 2.4% 3.5%

CPI increases 1.4% 2.7% 1.4% 2.6%

Salary increases 3.9% 4.2% N/A N/A

Pension increases 2.4% 2.7% 2.4% 2.6%

Discount rate 2.6% 2.7% 2.6% 2.6%

The expected return on assets is the discount rate.

30. Pension obligations (continued)

Defined Contribution Schemes 
MHL also participates in the defined contribution scheme with SHPS. 
The total expense charged to surplus in the period ended 31 March 2018 
was £661k (2017: £607k). This scheme is open to all new employees and 
current employees also have the opportunity to switch into this scheme.

MHL also participates in the Aviva defined contribution scheme. The total 
expense charged to surplus in the period ended 31 March 2018 was 
£173k (2017: £212k). This scheme is closed to new employees.

London Borough of Merton and Essex County Council  
Pension schemes
MHL provides two smaller pension schemes under the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) to its employees. Both schemes 
are defined benefit statutory schemes. A defined benefit scheme is a 
pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee 
will receive on retirement, dependent on one or more factors such as 
age, years of service and remuneration. These schemes have been 
closed to new employees.

The schemes have rules which specify the benefits to be paid and 
are financed accordingly with assets being held in independently 
administered funds. A full actuarial valuation of each scheme is carried 
out every three years with interim reviews in the intervening years.

The last full actuarial valuations were conducted as at 31 March 2016 by 
independent, qualified actuaries, Barnett Waddingham for both schemes, 
using the projected unit credit method. The valuation has set the 
contributions for the period from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020.

To assess the value of the Employers’ liabilities at 31 March 2018, 
Barnett Waddingham have rolled forward the value of the Employers’ 
liabilities calculated for the funding valuations as at 31 March 2016, 
using financial assumptions that comply with FRS 102. To calculate the 
asset share, they have rolled forward the assets allocated to MHL at 31 
March 2016 allowing for investment returns (estimated where necessary), 
contributions paid into, and estimated benefits paid from, the Fund by 
and in respect of MHL and its employees. The valuation uses a set of 
demographic assumptions that are consistent with those used for the 
most recent Fund valuation, carried out as at 31 March 2016.

2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017 2018 2017
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30. Pension obligations (continued)

Essex 
Pension Fund

Essex 
Pension Fund

Merton 
Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund 

Total Total

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Movements in deficit are as follows: £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Deficit brought forward (834) (604) (845) (681) (1,679) (1,285)

Remeasurement of the net defined liability 248 (204) 53 (153) 301 (357)

Amounts recognised in surplus (41) (33) (23) (26) (64) (59)

Contributions paid 46 7 12 15 58 22

Deficit carried forward (581) (834) (803) (845) (1,384) (1,679)

Essex 
Pension Fund

Essex 
Pension Fund

Merton 
Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund 

Total Total

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Amounts recognised in the 
surplus are as follows:

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Service cost (19) (10) - - (19) (10)

Net interest on defined liability (21) (22) (21) (24) (42) (46)

Administration expenses (1) (1) (2) (2) (3) (3)

Total (41) (33) (23) (26) (64) (59)

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
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The amount included in the statement of financial position arising from obligations from these defined benefit schemes is as follows:

Essex 
Pension Fund

Essex 
Pension Fund

Merton 
Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund 

Total Total

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Net pension liability as at 31 March: £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Present value of defined benefit 
obligation

(2,897) (2,976) (2,510) (2,580) (5,407) (5,556)

Fair value of Fund assets (bid value) 2,316 2,142 1,707 1,735 4,023 3,877

Deficit (581) (834) (803) (845) (1,384) (1,679)

Essex 
Pension Fund

Essex 
Pension Fund

Merton  
Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund 

2018 2017 2018 2017

Movement in the present value of the scheme: £000 £000 £000 £000

Opening defined benefit contribution (2,976) (2,439) (2,580) (2,172)

Current service cost (19) (10) - -

Interest cost (79) (87) (66) (75)

Change in financial assumptions 108 (581) 81 (449)

Change in demographic assumptions - 54 - (4)

Experience gain on defined benefit obligation - 18 - 52

Estimated benefits paid net of transfers in 75 75 55 68

Contributions by scheme participants (6) (6) - -

Closing defined benefit contribution (2,897) (2,976) (2,510) (2,580)

30. Pension obligations (continued)

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2017 2018 2017
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Essex 
Pension Fund

Essex 
Pension Fund

Merton  
Pension Fund 

Merton  
Pension Fund 

2018 2017 2018 2017

Movements in the fair value of scheme assets 
were as follows:

£000 £000 £000 £000

Opening fair value of Fund assets 2,142 1,835 1,735 1,491

Interest on assets 58 65 45 51

Return on assets less interest 140 288 (28) 273

Other actuarial gains/(losses) - 17 - (25)

Administration expenses (1) (1) (2) (2)

Contributions by employer including unfunded 46 7 12 15

Contributions by Fund participants 6 6 - -

Estimated benefits paid plus unfunded net of transfers in (75) (75) (55) (68)

Closing fair value of Fund assets 2,316 2,142 1,707 1,735

The total return on the Essex Pension Fund assets for the year to 31 March 2018 is £198,000.
The total return on the Merton Pension Fund assets for the year to 31 March 2018 is £17,000.

The analysis of the scheme assets at reporting date was as follows:

Essex Pension Fund
Employer asset share - bid value

2018 2018 2017 2017

£000 % £000 %

Equities 1,524 66% 1,464 68%

Gilts 157 6% 81 4%

Other bonds 85 4% 87 4%

Property 214 9% 208 10%

Cash 85 4% 64 3%

Alternative assets 158 7% 143 7%

Other managed funds 93 4% 95 4%

2,316 100% 2,142 100%

Merton Pension Fund 
Employer asset share - bid value

2018 2018 2017 2017

£000 % £000 % 

Equities 1,255 74% 1,245 72%

Gilts 381 22% 419 24%

Property 56 3% 59 3%

Cash 15 1% 12 1%

1,707 100% 1,735 100%

30. Pension obligations (continued)

2018 2017 2018 2017

2018 2018 2017 2017

2018 2017 20172018
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31. Contingent liabilities

MHL has been notified by TPT Retirement Solutions of the estimated 
employer debt on withdrawal from the Social Housing Pension Scheme 
based on the financial position of the Scheme as at 30 September 
2016 was £58.7m. The figure based on the financial position as at 30 
September 2017 has not been provided. 

MHL has been notified by TPT Retirement Solutions of the estimated 
employer debt on withdrawal from the Growth Plan based on the 
financial position of the Growth Plan as at 30 September 2017 was 
£127k (2017: £162k)

2018 2017

£000 £000

Surplus for the year 64,504 48,084

Adjustments for non-cash items

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 10,639 11,956

Amortisation of government grants (3,629) (3,518)

Impairment of tangible fixed assets 742 1,667

Decrease in investments 591 1,526

Decrease in stock 10,397 11,021

(Increase)/decrease in debtors (1,652) 14,963

(Increase)/decrease in creditors, excluding loans and grants 465 (4,558)

Capital accruals (1,484) (226)

Cost of tangible fixed asset disposals 33,368 29,733

Pension costs less contributions payable 6 37

Movement in fair value of financial instruments (7,278) 762

Adjustments for investing or financing activities

Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets (58,472) (49,249)

Proceeds from sale of investments (602) (1,543)

Interest payable 20,332 23,324

Interest receivable (78) (104)

Cash collateral returned (2,550) (16,600)

Cash generated from operations 65,299 67,275

32. Statement of cash flows - Group
Reconciliation of surplus for the year to cash generated from operations:

2018 2017

Notes to the financial statements
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33. Accommodation managed by others 
We have 87 (2017: 95) bed spaces in our registered care homes and 205 
supported units (2017: 217) which were managed under management 
agreements by other organisations on behalf of Moat. These other 
organisations contract with Supporting People Administering Authorities 
and carry the financial risk relating to the supported housing homes and 
bed spaces. 

34. Related party transactions
Key management personnel are Board members and the Executive team. 
Their only transactions with Moat are remuneration which is disclosed in 
notes 6 and 7.

The names of all Group members are set out in note 15. MHL is  
regarded by the Board as the ultimate parent undertaking of the Group. 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial 
statements of all Group members.  

Transactions with pension schemes which benefit employees are 
disclosed in note 30.

35. Analysis of intra group transactions between 
regulated and non regulated entities
Moat consists of MHL and MHG which are both registered providers of 
social housing regulated by the Regulator of Social Housing (RSH). Other 
group members are not regulated by the RSH. These are MDL, MCS 
which are both dormant; MHF which is a special purpose vehicle set up 
to raise funds through a bond issue; MF, a registered charity and MFM 
which provided managing agent services but has ceased trading.

MHL intra-group transactions with MHF:
MHF obtains finance directly from capital markets and on-lends to MHL. 
The on-lent funding to MHL is under a secured loan agreement, which 
is backed by housing assets of MHL. If there are any payments which 
are not made to MHF, then it has the right to enforce the security under 
the loan. During the year MHL paid £7.5m to MHF in interest payments. 
At 31 March 2018, MHL owed MHF £185k (2017: £184k) of accrued 
interest and £151.6m (2017: £151.6m). 

MHL intra-group transactions with MF:
MHL provides management and administration services to MF in the  
form of the supply of staff and the use of facilities but does not charge  
as these are deemed to be insignificant. During the year MHL donated 
£99k (2017: £60k) to MF.

36. Legislative authority
Moat Homes Limited and Moat Housing Group Limited are incorporated 
under the Co-operative and Community Benefits Societies Act 2014. 
Moat Development Limited, Mariner Facilities Management Limited, 
Moat Homes Finance Plc, Moat Construction Services Limited and Moat 
Foundation are incorporated under the Companies Act 2006. Moat 
Foundation is also a registered charity under the charities commission. 
In addition Moat Homes Limited and Moat Housing Group Limited are 
Registered Providers.

Notes to the financial statements
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